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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the "Board"), | am pleased to present the annual results of Rare Earth Magnesium
Technology Group Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as "REMT" or the “Group”)
for the year ending December 31, 2024 (the "Year") for all stakeholders to review.

Introduction

In 2024, REMT continued to focus on the magnesium business while facing multiple challenges, including a slowdown in
global economic growth, structural adjustments in the Chinese industrial economy, and the impact of periodic overcapacity,
which has led to declining magnesium prices. Despite the clear advantages of magnesium over aluminum and its increasingly
diverse applications, domestic magnesium enterprises in China continue to suffer from cost pressures due to persistent price
inversions, with the overall industry remaining sluggish. There is a need to seek a balance between short-term pressures
and long-term strategic layouts.

Multiple Factors Leading to Continued Decline in Magnesium Prices

Production Growth but Price Pressure: In 2024, global magnesium production is expected to be approximately 1.13 million
tons, with China accounting for 1.026 million tons, or 90.8% of the total, reflecting a significant year-on-year increase of 25%.
However, magnesium prices showed a stepwise decline in 2024, with an annual drop of 21%. The domestic average price
for the year was RMB17,920 yuan/ton (a year-on-year decrease of 13%), hitting a low of RMB16,000 yuan/ton in December,
pushing the industry into overall losses. The reasons for the continuous price decline include:

1. Weak Demand:
Traditional application fields such as sponge titanium and steel desulfurisation are experiencing shrinking demand.
Although China's magnesium ingot exports grew by 13.6% year-on-year in 2024, the average price fell by 7.1%. Demand
for lightweight magnesium alloys in sectors like new energy vehicles and aerospace is increasing, but practical
usage remains below 15% due to limitations in technology maturity and costs. Downstream companies are cautious in
procurement due to declining prices, exacerbating inventory pressures.

2. Policy and Market Risks:
China's "dual carbon” policy has raised electricity costs, and the EU's Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM)
has increased export uncertainties. The acceleration of industry consolidation has led to the exit of small capacities or
mismatches in supply and demand, further depressing prices.

3. Inventory Pressure:
Significant capacity release in major production areas such as Shaanxi and Xinjiang, combined with weak demand, has
led to an expected national total inventory exceeding 80,000 tons by December 2024, a historical high. The imbalance
between supply and demand has caused magnesium prices to drop below RMB16,000 yuan/ton, expanding the scope of
industry losses.

PR R E R RARAR]
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

(SRR EXLTT]
FIREBERELECBEERRAERRE  HE2025F 28218 @ ZRERLERE0.76 (B ARKI5800T/BE vs. B AR
#520,8007T/MA) » BI20184F 2R Ex (K Bh » €:2024F 11 AH90.78# — 2 11T » 2024 F $EiRLERIEMNI.0 - BEELRASEERMA -

BETELLIRE/3 HIREwRLLERRIS  EEATM L EEEXAEZNE - AR - PEBOHAM H DR - R
EfRiaEs  AETHEREA S

[EBEHFBEREASREMS T

1. HERA[ERE L
EASRETER RERMEDR  BIZEARNAELABM  WERZDRE - B -
R GEREBERAYRE . PASEBRBEER ISR REMIEASEA S -
EANRBE-_RESGSERHRE  BLLIBES S REME3%  BARIKL%  WEIRE
HENEBE E XBEESESEASNNAEBHRNARERBHENEL - B
EENEMAFEACERBIMIEER -

2. 3CETERKEL
EAESTEFHE AR BERETHNEAKERBRNFE -INEHELESS
BrESEIZ xHEES(ESte XRENMBESEASECATI  EEE
K BEA8 [ ThinkBook X2024A1 IRATRES € @ RS/ H#HE - MBS s -

3. EBRASAHN
EHERAERESBESETRAN202FARBZHOEAAR  EEYWA
A BEREAEEEASRCINNELD BRBEGSESHEAY FTREEFAENY

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
6 Annual Report 2024



EE®E (H)
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Magnesium Replacing Aluminum is Inevitable

The magnesium-aluminum price ratio has significantly fallen below a reasonable range: as of February 21, 2025, the
magnesium-aluminum price ratio dropped to 0.76 (magnesium price of RMB15,800 yuan/ton vs. aluminum price of
RMB20,800 yuan/ton), marking the lowest level since 2018 and further declining from 0.78 in November 2024. The long-
term magnesium-aluminum ratio has remained below 1.0, significantly below the reasonable range. Magnesium'’s density is
one-third lower than aluminum, with a theoretical magnesium-aluminum price ratio of 1.5; however, the current ratio of 0.76
highlights magnesium's cost advantages. Additionally, China has removed the export tax rebate on aluminum and restricted
electrolytic aluminum capacity, pushing downstream industries to switch to magnesium alloys.

New Diverse Applications of Magnesium

1. Lightweighting in New Energy Vehicles:

Magnesium alloys, with their low density and high strength, are widely used in
structural components of vehicles, such as electric drive housings and wheel hubs.
SAIC Motor Corporation has enhanced magnesium alloy performance through semi-
solid injection molding technology, applying it to the second-generation magnesium
alloy electric drive housing, which reduces weight by 30% compared to aluminum alloy
housings and lowers costs by 40%. This breakthrough marks a transition of magnesium
alloys from small structural components to large complex parts, expected to drive the
development of a 200,000-ton magnesium alloy electric motor housing industry.

2. Lightweighting in 3C Electronics:
The application of magnesium alloys in mobile phone casings, heat sinks, and computer
components continues to expand. For instance, Razer has launched a magnesium
alloy hollow wireless mouse that balances lightweight and high performance; Honor
has released an ultra-thin magnesium alloy laptop with a thickness of just 1 cm; and
Lenovo’s “ThinkBook X2024Al” uses stainless magnesium alloy to resolve oxidation
issues, exceeding the corrosion resistance of marine aluminum.

3.  Medical Innovations:
The world’s first biodegradable magnesium cranial fixation system began multi-center
clinical trials in June 2024, filling a gap in neurosurgery with its biocompatibility
and controllable degradation. Medical magnesium alloys are gradually maturing in
orthopedic implants and dental restorations.

PR R E R RARAR]
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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EE®E (H)
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Hydrogen Storage and Transportation Breakthroughs:

Magnesium is recognised as the metal with the highest hydrogen storage density
among all solid-state storage materials, making it a highly promising hydrogen storage
material due to its high density, low operational costs, safety, and simple chemical
reactions with no by-products. According to the China Hydrogen Alliance, hydrogen
demand in China is expected to reach 60 million tons by 2050. It is estimated that 1 ton
of hydrogen requires about 20 tons of magnesium storage materials, with magnesium
accounting for over 80% of the materials. Assuming 20% of production needs storage,
and a magnesium-based hydrogen storage penetration of 1%, the long-term demand for
magnesium could reach as high as 1.92 million tons.

Building Templates:

Compared to mainstream aluminum alloy templates, magnesium alloys offer significant
advantages in lightweighting; each ton of raw material can produce more templates.
Magnesium templates exhibit good die-casting performance, and costs are expected to
decrease as die-casting mold amortisation and costs drop. Moreover, China has rich
reserves of raw magnesium and a complete industrial chain, making the supply chain
more secure and controllable compared to imported raw aluminum materials.

Aerospace and Robotics:

Magnesium alloys are used in aircraft structural components, rocket parts, and
humanoid robot joints, with semi-solid casting processes improving processing
efficiency. Demand for magnesium alloys in the defense and military sectors is steadily
increasing.

Low-altitude Economy:

Magnesium alloys show great potential in the low-altitude economy due to their
lightweight and high-performance advantages. As technology matures and policies
promote development, applications will expand from drones and electric vertical takeoff
and landing vehicles to broader aviation sectors. In the next five years, magnesium
alloys could become one of the main materials in the low-altitude economy if cost
control breakthroughs are achieved. It is estimated that by 2030, the global low-
altitude economy could exceed RMB 2 trillion yuan, driving a corresponding increase in
magnesium alloy demand with an average compound annual growth rate of 18%.

PR R E R RARAR]
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Upgrading Production Facilities is Imperative

As previously reported, to implement the requirements of China's Ministry of Ecology and Environment and other functional
departments regarding the promotion of ultra-low emissions in the coking industry and the National Development and
Reform Commission’s guidelines on industrial structural adjustments, the local government in Hami, Xinjiang, where our
subsidiary Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as Xinjiang Tengxiang) is located,
requires that Xinjiang Tengxiang complete the upgrade of its coal tar production facilities by the end of 2025. Meeting
ultra-low emission standards for these production facilities will require substantial investment. Given the current funding
pressure on the Group, Xinjiang Tengxiang has applied to the local government for an extension until 2026 to complete the
upgrades. Additionally, the board of Xinjiang Tengxiang has authorised management to take proactive measures, including
but not limited to introducing venture capital, equity financing, and project cooperation to ensure the normal production of
the magnesium plant.

Prospects

In 2024, China's magnesium industry is expected to achieve large-scale applications in sectors such as new energy, medical,
and transportation through technological breakthroughs, policy support, and scene expansion. Although emerging application
fields offer long-term growth potential, it is necessary to further reverse cost inversions and innovate processes to release
greater potential. The magnesium market is exhibiting a “strong supply and weak demand” pattern, with prices under
downward pressure and the industry facing multiple challenges from environmental protection, cost pressures, and supply-
demand imbalances. If effective corrections cannot be made, operational risks will further increase.

I would like to express heartfelt thanks on behalf of the Group to all shareholders, board members, customers, banks,
partners, and colleagues for their continued support. | extend sincere gratitude to all employees of the Group for their
outstanding performance. In the context of deep reconstruction of the global economy and consumption downgrade, the
Chinese real economy faces challenges of business pressure, overcapacity in traditional industries, and weak consumer
demand. However, through technological innovation, policy support, and digital transformation, we are accelerating the
construction of a more resilient industrial system. Let us forge ahead with determination!

Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FI O RS BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS
ERABREFERN SEHHKRAREE During the Year, the revenue of the Group was HK$242,700,000
242,700,0007T (20234 : % #263,491,0007T) (2023: HK$263,491,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of

BEFRBTERTI% AFEE  £EE 7.9%. During the Year, the overall gross loss was HK$51,376,000
B2 E B 18 578 1£51,376,0007T (20234 : B (2023: HK$85,281,000). The loss attributable to shareholders was
85,281,0007T) - B A REMNEIE BB HK$408,419,000 (2023: HK$423,600,000).

408,419,0007T (20234F : & #85,281,0007T) °

MBERRE FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS SUMMARY

—E_F —E=-= —=EF_—

2024 2023 2022
FE T TAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(REZR) (&'Z) (& E=Z)
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

WA Revenue 242,700 263,491 383,899

EHN Gross (loss)/profit (51,376) (85,281) 46,614
EH=E Gross (loss)/profit margin (21.2%) (32.4%) 12.1%
RATIHEAR AEL (Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of

(E18),#7F the Company (408,419) (423,600) 1,404
4 ) 2 Net profit margin i AN/A N EAN/A 0.4%

BEBRE Total asset 1,025,167 1,442,531 1,873,174

T = 4B R Total equity 155,490 612,961 1,095,952
RITIR S Cash at banks 24,716 39,954 38,297

fEELE

Gearing ratio

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MAIN OPERATION DATA ANALYSIS

The Group’s revenue in 2024 recorded a 7.9% decline to approximately
HK$242.7million (2023:HK$263.5 million). The Group continued to
focus on its magnesium business despite facing a challenging market
environment. The global economic slowdown, structural adjustments in
China’s industrial economy, and a temporary oversupply in production
capacity led to a persistent decline in magnesium prices. Although
the increasing diversification of magnesium applications and the cost
advantages of magnesium over aluminum provided some support
to demand, the industry remained under pressure due to prolonged
price inversion. Domestic magnesium producers faced continued cost
pressures, and the overall market downturn had yet to see fundamental
improvement, requiring companies to balance short-term financial strain
with long-term strategic planning.

Although the Group’s sales volume of magnesium products increased
from 12,300 tons in 2023 to 13,678 tons in 2024, the average selling price
declined from HK$21,337 per ton in 2023 to HK$17,564 per ton in 2024,
leading to a revenue decline. As a result, the Group recorded an overall
gross loss of HK$51.4million (2023:HK$85.3 million).

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES ANALYSIS

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses remained stable at approximately
HK$2.3million (2023:HK$2.3 million), primarily consisting of marketing
expenses and sales staff wages. The selling and distribution expenses-
to-revenue ratio was maintained at 0.9% (2023: 0.9%).

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses totaled approximately HK$57.5 million
(2023:HK$83.7 million), with the decrease mainly attributable to cost-
cutting measures, including reductions in discretionary expenditures.
Administrative expenses primarily consisted of staff remuneration,
depreciation and amortization, audit and professional fees, and research
and development costs.

Impairment and Allowance

In 2024, the Group recognized a non-recurring, non-cash impairment
provision on non-current assets, amounting to HK$252.1 million
(2023:HK$203.9 million), reflecting the continued underperformance of
its magnesium business. Additionally, the Group recorded a reversal of
allowance for expected credit loss on trade receivables, deposits, and
other receivables, amounting to HK$1.78million (2023:HK$3.99 million).
This reversal was primarily due to the successful collection of aged
trade receivables during the year.

W B EEZERERAF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 B AR

20244F - & [H Y BF 75 X AN 48 BE 5 5 155,488 4
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H E2024F12A31H EENEEEGE
K (MBEHBRAREE) 569.8% (2023F ¢
477%) - EEFHENRTRESHBBOBE

i — e —

2,471.68 7T (20234 : B H3995.48 JT) ©

I RBEERE

2024F  EENBEREBRATE 22
HECOERBETZE  FHESSEE -aRBES
EREN (CCU) M ERIBIENTER - BI1E
BT TEERBER G FHER ME-
B KR E O IREE ALY RS 6878 T
(20234 : B#102051B70)  FREEEDN
BB 218228 7T (20234 : B #3,173.85
TC) BRBEXEEE616.28 T (20234 ¢
131968 7T) - IRIBEL BEE2575.58

e —

JC(2023%F : B #3587.187T) °

EEMGERSEXEM (COU)  BELEE
EWAEKSENBEBTLET  RHE
ERAFRERIEAR - WIRA13.55%H) B Al
IR R RI00%HIBREK - FHITRFEA -

FE A RRE  coUM A B sEER
EEEE AtEREREERERL  H
R - BB MR R E S 52,3381 T (2023
F B ¥1889METL) FRABEERBEBE
74198 70 (20234 : E#587.68 L) - EEE
E BB 7B #209.58 7T (20234 : B 24438
JT) o BREEAE R (E B 15875.68 T (20234 ¢ B
B664.28T0) « RN BERREENIKREE
EXRBAENEK S -

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year totaled HK$54.9million, representing a 12.5%
year-on-year increase. This primarily comprised effective interest
expenses on borrowings under the Creditors’ Scheme, which were non-
cash in nature and did not impact the Company’s cash flow.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s gearing ratio, representing the total borrowings divided by
total assets, was 69.8% (2023: 47.7%). At 31 December 2024, cash in bank
was HK$24,716,000 (2023: HK$39,954,000).

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

In 2024, the Group’s magnesium product business underperformed,
incurring losses due to the global economic slowdown. Given the poorer
than expected economic performance of the cash-generating unit
(“CGU"), management indicated potential impairment and assessed the
assets. The carrying amounts for property, plant, and equipment; right-
of-use assets; intangible assets; and mining rights were approximately
HK$687,793,000 (2023: HK$1,020,495,000), HK$21,822,000 (2023:
HK$31,738,000), HK$6,162,000 (2023: HK$13,196,000) and HK$25,755,000
(2023: HK$35,871,000), respectively.

The Group estimated the recoverable amount of the CGU, including
corporate assets, at around HK$741,532,000. The value in use was
calculated based on five-year cash flow projections, with a pre-tax
discount rate of 13.55% and a growth rate of 3.00%, in line with industry
forecasts.

The impairment assessment indicated that the CGU’s recoverable
amount was lower than its carrying amount. The impairment loss
recognized for property, plant and equipment; right-of-use assets;
intangible assets; and mining rights was HK$233,842,000 (2023:
HK$188,941,000), HK$7,419,000 (2023: HK$5,876,000), HK$2,095,000
(2023: HK$2,443,000) and HK$8,756,000 (2023: HK$6,642,000).
respectively, ensuring no asset’s carrying amount fell below its
recoverable amount.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSlS [CONTlNUED)

Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group analyses
its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and considers managing
this risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety of
means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure of our
customers. In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has authorised a team responsible for determining credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The procedures required
that all clients were regularly assessed so that the Group could keep
track of their transaction records and credit history.

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current borrowings amounted
to approximately HK$108,833,000 while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$24,716,000. As disclosed in note 39 to the

financial statements, the Group is exposed to liquidity risk if it is not able
to raise sufficient fund to meet its financial obligations.

The directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.
Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
functional departments of the Group and its subsidiaries. Key function
of the Group is to guide their standard operating procedures, limits
of authority and reporting framework. Our management will assess
key operational exposures and effect raised in business development
regularly, implement relevant measures and improve the internal control
so that risk can be responded and mitigated on a timely and effective
manner.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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In response to the requirements of the Chinese Government’s Ministry
of Ecology and Environment and other functional departments regarding
the promotion of ultra-low emissions in the coking industry, as well
as the guidelines for industrial restructuring issued by the National
Development and Reform Commission, the local government in Hami,
Xinjiang, where REMT'’s subsidiary Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium
Products Co., Ltd. (“Xinjiang Tengxiang”) is located, has mandated that
designated industry production facilities must undergo upgrading and
renovation. This includes major magnesium production enterprises
like Xinjiang Tengxiang, which primarily utilise lanthanum coke tail gas
for magnesium refining. Due to the fact that the lanthanum charcoal
production line at Xinjiang Tengxiang was built and put into operation
in October 2010, the facilities of the production line have become aged,
outdated, and inefficient, with a low level of energy efficiency and
outdated technology. It no longer complies with the industrial policies
of the Chinese government. The upgrade and transformation of coking
enterprises in the Hami region have been included as a key focus of local
government supervision and regulation in 2024. Xinjiang Tengxiang has
been requested to promptly implement the upgrade and transformation
of the outdated technology in the lanthanum charcoal production
facilities. Shortly after completing the restructuring of our offshore
debts, we still face numerous challenges. Market demand is weak,
and there is a tight cash flow. However, the environmental upgrade
and renovation require a significant amount of capital investment. In
light of the current financial constraints faced by the Group, Xinjiang
Tengxiang has applied to the local government for an extension until
2026 to complete the upgrade and renovation of its semi-coke production
facilities. Meanwhile, the board of directors of Xinjiang Tengxiang has
authorised the management team to take proactive measures, including
but not limited to attracting venture capital, equity financing, and
project cooperation, to ensure the successful completion of the upgrade
and renovation project for the semi-coke production facilities, thereby
ensuring the normal production of the magnesium plant.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension of its
return period relative to the expected return or occurrence of losses
on any particular investment attributable to changes of external
factors. The Group is well aware of the importance of exploring
various business opportunities and territories on a continual basis,
and implemented this as the key task of the year. Key concern of
projects investment framework will be balancing risk and return across
different investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the
investment decision process. Proper investment assessment and due
diligence procedures have been set up and detailed analysis will be
made before approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of
the investments of our Group would be submitted to the Board.

The Group successfully completed its offshore debt restructuring in
2022; however, domestic bank loan litigation has progressed to the
execution stage. As disclosed in the 2023 Annual Results, Baishan
Tianan Magnesium Metal Mining Co., Ltd. (“Baishan Tianan”) received a
summons from a PRC court on 2 June 2021 for failing to meet the terms
of a loan agreement with a PRC-based bank. The bank subsequently filed
a claim against Baishan Tianan, demanding immediate repayment of the
outstanding principal, interest, and associated fees.

The loan was secured by Baishan Tianan’s land use rights, factory
buildings, and machinery located in Baishan City, Jilin Province, China
(collectively referred to as the “Baishan Tianan Assets”). As of the
date of this report, the outstanding principal amount owed to the bank
stands at RMB64 million. On 5 February 2024, the Baishan Court issued
an execution ruling and informed the Company that the Baishan Tianan
Assets would be auctioned between 10 March 2024 and 11 March 2024,
with a starting bid price of approximately RMB132.79 million. The auction
proceeds were expected to be used primarily to settle Baishan Tianan’s
debt obligations. The first auction, however, was unsuccessful. On 3 May
2024, the Group received a notification from the Baishan Court that the
Baishan Tianan Assets would be subject to a realisation auction. This
auction was scheduled to take place between 2 May 2024 and 21 July
2024, with a starting bid of approximately RMB106 million. Unfortunately,
the realisation auction also proved unsuccessful. The Baishan Tianan
Assets have been idle for several years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because of the
Group’s rapid business development while at the same time facing
severe competition over specialists from the industry and turnover of
manpower. Our Group may face the risk of not being able to recruit and
retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of business which
would meet with our business objectives. Our Group will periodically
conduct a thorough analysis over its remuneration system, as well as
incentive mechanism and optimize the compensation structure so as
to ensure remuneration packages can align reasonably with market
standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment
channels are broadened and the talent pool of senior management are
strengthened, so as to further enhance the promotion opportunities
and career path of employees. Systematic staff training are also being
further enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training and the
dissemination of corporate cultures and values.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means that the PRC
Government is paying increasing attention to environmental rules
and policies and is imposing more stringent regulatory requirements.
The Group's subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises have
been operating for a long while which might lag behind in certain
environmental and duty requirements promulgated by the PRC
Government. The Group monitors impact on business development
closely raised from movements of environmental policy and external
factors. Acting in an environmentally responsible manner and
performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed to improving
and maintaining the long term sustainability of the communities in which
it operates. The Group endeavours to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction.
Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in daily operation of
the Group. Such initiatives include recycling of resources, energy saving
measures and water saving practices.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSlS [CONTlNUED)

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China while the Company is listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations accordingly shall comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group has no material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately 340 as at 31
December 2024. The remuneration of employees was determined by the
Group with reference to their performance, work experience and current
market conditions. Employee benefits include annual leave, medical
insurance and provident fund scheme. There has been no labour dispute
or significant change in the relationship with the employees that affect
the normal operations of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group
maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with business partners, shareholders, investors and banks to achieve
its long- term goals. To keep up with our key stakeholders closely, the
Group has formulated corresponding scheme about investor relationship,
and also holds tailored activities from time to time, such as annual/
extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars and road-shows.
Accordingly, our senior management has kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business latest update about
development of the Group with our stakeholders when appropriate.
During the year, there was no material dispute between our Group and
its business partners or banks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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PROJECT OVERVIEW

Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City, Jilin Province,
the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit method, and therefore no
additional exploration works are involved or required. Only simple
infrastructure works for open-pit mining are involved in the development
activities, and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The transportation cost is relatively low due to the close
proximity of the mine to the production base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the Chinese
resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December 2024, the anticipated
resource and reserve volumes were determined based on the yearly
reduction of quantity mined to calculate the remaining resource and
reserve volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions of
estimation by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed.
The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the Group’s internal
geological experts. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the dolomite
output was 90,455 tonnes. As compared with the state as at 31 December
2023, there was no material change in the resource estimate and ore
reserve of the dolomite mine.

The expenditure incurred in exploration and development activities was
HKS$nil for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance
to the long-term development of the Group and has devoted considerable
efforts in identifying, formulating, implementing and enhancing corporate
governance practices in accordance with the needs of the Group. As
mentioned below, the Company has established the relevant committees/
sub- committee and adopted certain internal policies to improve internal
controls and enhance transparency of business operation of the Group
with a view to protect the interests of its stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied
with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), save for
the deviations as disclosed in “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”
section.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as the code of conduct of the Group regarding securities transactions of
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) on terms no less exactly
than required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

References are made to the section headed [ INTENDED USE OF
PROCEEDS Jin the listing document of rights issue (the [ Listing
Document]) of the Company dated 6 October 2023. The net proceeds
from the Rights Issue (after deducting the underwriting fees and other
related expenses paid by the Company in connection with the Rights
Issue) amounted to approximately HK$14.4 million (the[ Net Proceeds]) .

The below table sets out the use of net proceeds and the utilised net
proceeds from the Rights Issue up to 31 December 2024:

Ez i
20245 2024 BAXEHA
ARFEREFE 12A318 12A31A FeREREN
Wit 8 A% EBHASE  ABALH EHER
Amount Unutilised Expected timeline
utilisedupto  balance as at for utilising the
Planned use of 31 December 31 December unutilised
Net Proceeds in total 2024 2024 Net Proceeds
ABET % BEET AEET
HK$ million %  HKS$ million HK$ million
ERERNTEREERT Covering ongoing administrative and TER
operating expenses 12 50.0 72 - N/A
REFEERAZEEBRHEE  Nurturing the growth of the Group's
(MZHEERAL  RER existing magnesium business, such as
MHERES) supporting production costs, facilitating TER
the purchase of raw materials, etc. 72 50.0 72 - N/A
@t Total 144 100.0 144 -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

THE BOARD

Currently, the Board comprises the following five Directors:

Executive Directors

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors

Cheung Sound Poon
Sheng Hong
Shen Yimin

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategies
and policies of the Group, reviewing and monitoring its financial
performance, including preparing and approving financial statements
and overseeing operational matters of the management, considering
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget. Daily business operations and administrative
functions of the Group are delegated to the management.

Board meetings and practices

The Board meets regularly and board meetings are held at least four
times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices and agenda
of regular board meetings are served to all Directors at least fourteen
days before the meetings to ensure that all Directors are given the
opportunity to attend and to include matters in the agenda. Discussion
materials of regular board meetings are sent to all Directors for their
study at least three days prior to the meetings. Draft minutes of board
meetings are circulated to all Directors for review and comments within
a reasonable time after the meetings prior to confirmation. Minutes are
recorded in sufficient detail of the matters considered by the Board and
decisions reached.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings and practices (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, four board meetings were
held by the Company, and the individual attendance rate of each Director
at meetings of the Board, its committees and General Meetings is as
follows:

BITEE Executive Directors

Lt Shum Sai Chit

S Chi Sile

BYBTEE Independent Non-executive Directors
RAAR Cheung Sound Poon

B Sheng Hong (i)

TRE Shen Yimin (ii)

BRxX Kwong Ping Man (iii)

e Lin Pengxuan (iv)

Pt/ Brzed
Attended/held
E=g B B2 2]
g% ZEE€E8E ZEgE; £EE8 REAE
Audit Nomination  Remuneration Members
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
n - 11 1/1 11
n - - - 11
n 44 /1 1/1 11
1/1 1/1 11 11 -
2/2 2/2 11 1/1 11
2/2 2/2 1/1 - 1/1

0) RZZEZWFAATAREE
(ii) R-ZZE-_ME+_—_A-+RHEZT
(i) RZZTZWFEANAZT/N\HREME

(iv) RZTZWFALAZ=+=HEHME

1 E MR AIE3.1001) % (2) - LA K3.10AMK 2 #
EARBELZERHEE 2B IERTTE
FMBUNTEFFNELE—ELAEE
HECHEEVEERER -EF2EK
BB ITESRE EMARAEFEI 13K
MEBLEMEREL < FERREL

EXeNECRYEFERRME - X5
KB EMER FHEORE -

(i) Appointed on 16 September 2024
(ii) Appointed on 20 December 2024
(i) Retired on 28 June 2024

(iv)  Resigned on 23 September 2024

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors have been
appointed and at least one of the remaining Independent Non-executive
Directors has appropriate accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Board has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of its Independent Non- executive Directors as required under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

THE BOARD (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Company updates the Directors of the latest changes in the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time. Apart from encouraging the Directors
to participate in continuous professional development (“CPD") courses
to refresh and enhance their knowledge and skills, the Company also
arranged an industry-related in-house seminar for the Directors and
provided them with reading materials relating to the directors’ duties. All
Directors have provided the Company with their records of training they
received during the year ended 31 December 2024.

A summary of the trainings participated by the Directors during the year

ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

BFEEXE
BRI
e
Types of
continuous
professional
development
E=E Directors training Vet
HITES Executive Directors
ottt Shum Sai Chit B
st Hyy £ Chi Sile B
BIYKHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
RE A Cheung Sound Poon ANB
Aand B
BR 3 Sheng Hong AKB
Aand B
LEER Shen Yimin AKB
Aand B
P 5E - Notes:
A HEBENEIIRE A Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: MERE TYREBARAREBXEFTBRER B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business or

BE - EmRAIRAECEREER TSN ERS
FEE B E

directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing Rules and

other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.
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THE BOARD (continuea)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties of the Company in accordance with the “Terms of
Reference of Corporate Governance Function” adopted by it:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make appropriate recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(d) to review the Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the following
corporate governance duties:

Reviewed and approved the contents of the Corporate Governance
Report included in the 2023 annual report of the Company; and

Adopted the “Board Diversity Policy”.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Subsequent to the retirement of Ms. Chi Bi Fen as Chief Executive Officer
in 2019, Mr. Shum Sai Chit, the chairman and an executive Director, has
been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Mr. Shum Sai Chit has numerous years of experience in the management
of the Company and is familiar with all aspects of the Group’s operations
and the Board considers that Mr. Shum Sai Chit is well qualified to take
up the role of the Chief Executive Officer.

Following the appointment of Mr. Shum as Chief Executive Officer, the
Company does not have a separate chairman and Chief Executive Officer
and Mr. Shum holds both positions, in which there is deviation to code
provision C.2.1 of Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules, which provides (among other matters) that the roles
of the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Shum Sai Chit had
been in charge of the overall management of the Company since 2015
and the Company considered that such arrangement would promote the
efficient formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies
which would enable the Group to further develop its businesses
effectively at this stage. The Board will review the current structure
from time to time and shall make necessary arrangements when the
Board considers appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the Non-executive Directors and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are fixed for a specific term, and
shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
respectively. Each committee is delegated with specific authorities by the
Board in assisting the Board to discharge its duties and to administer
particular aspects of the Group’s activities. The roles and functions of
each committee are summarized below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. The Company has adopted
Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in compliance with the
Code. The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Shen Yimin.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to provide an
independent and professional advice on financial reporting and review
the internal control of the Group.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board of the significant issues
discussed by the Committee for the Board’s information and/or
consideration.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings in the year ended 31
December 2024 and has reviewed the final results for the period ended
31 December 2023 and the interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2024, and confirmed that the accounting principles and practices
adopted as well as the disclosures made in such financial statements
were appropriate, accurate and fair.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee has also discussed with the auditors on the
scope of audit for the year ended 31 December 2024, and reviewed the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1996. The Company
has adopted Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with the Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises an
Executive Director, namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit (Chairman of Remuneration
Committee) and two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Cheung Sound Poon and Mr. Sheng Hong.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
in relation to remuneration of the Directors and senior management of
the Company. It schedules to meet at least once a year to review and
determine the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and
senior management and to make recommendation to the Board of the
remuneration of Non-executive Director. In determining and approving
the remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Company,
the Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance and
profitability of the Company and its business units.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting in the year ended
31 December 2024 to review the existing remuneration policies of the
Directors and senior management of the Company, etc..
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The Company has
adopted Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee with reference
to the Code. The Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director,
namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and
two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon and Mr. Sheng Hong..

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors, assessing the
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors and monitoring
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting in the year ended 31
December 2024, together with by means of written resolutions, to review
and deal with the following major issues:

Reviewed the qualifications and experiences of individual Directors
as well as their roles and responsibilities in the Group to ensure
the existing Board structure is fit for the business growth of the
Group; and

Reviewed the degree of diversity of the existing Board.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY SUMMARY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of its Board members.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and competence,
and the candidates will be considered against certain objective criteria
such as gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional qualifications, areas of experience, skills, knowledge and
length of services, etc. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total remunerations paid/
payable by the Company to its external auditors in respect of the audit
services and non-audit services are as follows:

FET
Bk 7 38 5l Types of services HK$’000
E RS Audit services 790
IEEZ R Non-audit services 145
HEr Total 935

EEHRRUBHRR2EME

EERREEFECREUATEERA TR
MAEEEBRAREE LT BRE - BHE
ZENF+ZA=+—HILFE AEH
BRGER A F 1B 49408,419,0008 7T ©

AARIZEBMREHTERRIREELE
B & 7 AN 8 F 3R 45 SFA8E 558 2 [ B 1%
HEIRE A -

DIRECTORS’' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of the
Group’s affairs and results. The Group recorded a consolidated net loss
of approximately HK$408,419,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 48 to 55 of this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Since 20 August 2015, Mr. Fan Kwok Man, Raymond has been appointed
as the Company Secretary. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration in Insurance, Financial and Actuarial Analysis from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong and he is member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has over 10 years of
experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate
finance.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Fan has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convention of Special General meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition to the Company’s
registered office. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may
do so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies Act”).

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, registered
Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal at a general meeting
if they:

(a) represent not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the
Company at the date of the deposit of the requisition; or

(b) are not less than 100 registered Shareholders.

The written requisition stating the resolution(s) should be duly signed by
the registered Shareholder(s) concerned, accompanied by a statement of
not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with must be deposited
at the Company’s registered office. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements. The Shareholder(s)
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving
effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under Sections 79
and 80 of the Companies Act once valid documents are received.

Enquiries from Shareholders

The Board welcomes views, enquires and concerns in relation to the
management and corporate governance of the Group from Shareholders.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and/or concerns to
the Board in writing by email (info@remt.com. hk), by fax ((852) 2802
2697) or by mail to the principal place of business of the Company for
follow up.

For shareholding enquiries, Shareholders may contact the Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company was
updated on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong (“Stock Exchange”) on 4 July 2023 and there is no other
change in such constitutional document during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibilities for risk management and internal
control of the Group. The system of internal control is designed to
manage and mitigate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
with reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. The scope of
review would cover risk management functions, financial, operational
and compliance controls, the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programmes and budget, etc..

The Company have formulated an inside information policy providing
guideline on handling inside information. The Company regularly reminds
the directors and employees about compliance with all policies adopted
by the Company regarding inside information including the Model Code
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in
securities of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group is committed to enhance investor relationship by increasing
its transparency to the investment community.

The following measures have been taken by the Company to keep
investors informed of the latest developments and news of the Group
and to facilitate a two-way communication between the Company and its
Shareholders:

(a) Mailing corporate communication documents such as interim
reports, annual reports and circulars to the Shareholders
periodically and uploading the same on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(b)  Publishing announcements through the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange;

(c) Making available of the Company’s corporate and products
information on its website;

(d) Organizing general meetings to facilitate direct exchange of views
between the Shareholders and the management of the Company;
and

(e) Encouraging investors to communicate with the Company through
the Company’s website from time to time.

At the Company’s last AGM held on 28 June 2024, all the resolutions
relating to the adoption of financial statements, re-election of Directors,
reappointment of auditors and grant of general mandates to issue and
repurchase shares have been duly passed. The forthcoming AGM of
the Company is scheduled to be held in June 2025 or any other dates
as specified in further notice of AGM meeting to be published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange later.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit, age 67, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing Director
of Go Modern Limited which was principally engaged in manufacturing
of textile products and trading activities. In 1984, Mr. Shum joined
Fujian Textiles Import and Export Corporation as a Manager to oversee
importing and exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate
of Consumer Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum was also an
executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock

code: 509) until 31 July 2021.

Ms. CHI Sile, aged 36, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 1 August 2021. Prior to her appointment, she was the
director of investor relations department of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) and responsible for managing investor
relations. Ms. Chi holds a MBA degree from the University of Hong Kong
and a double degree of Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Arts from the
University of Western Australia. Ms. Chi is the daughter of Mr. Chi Wen
Fu, the chairman and executive director of Century Sunshine.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Sound Poon, age 64, is currently a senior audit manager
at Chui & Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W. K. Yam &
Co. (CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 40 years of experience in accounting
and auditing. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509).

Mr. Sheng Hong, aged 61, is a director of SWIFTOWN Development
Limited and General Manager of SWIFTOWN (Shanghai) Trading Limited.
The SWIFTOWN Group is principally engaged in design and sales
of metallic products. Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of experience in
management of corporation and investment. He was employed by China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to 1996. Mr. Sheng
was an independent non-executive director of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509.HK) from 24 September 2010 to 15
September 2024. Mr. Sheng holds a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical
Engineering from Tongji University, Shanghai.

Mr. Shen Yimin, aged 61, has been acting as an independent non-
executive director and a member of each of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 509.HK) since January 2022. Mr. Shen had been an
independent non-executive director and a member of the audit committee
of Century Sunshine from May 2003 to September 2008.

Mr. Shen obtained a lawyer’s license issued by the department of justice
(@)X E2) from Fujian Province of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
in September 2019. Mr. Shen also obtained a qualification certificate
issued by China Securities Regulatory Commission to practice securities
laws in the PRC in July 1996. He graduated from Fudan University in the
PRC with a major in Economics Law in July 1992. Mr. Shen was a partner
of Fujian Zhi Li Law Office ({8 =2 R E A7) and the former
principal of Fujian Fuzhou Foreign Economics Law Office (18324 & /N

BOMOBREDETEAT) .
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES (CONTINUED)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Tianyuan, age 60, is responsible for the corporate affairs
management of the Group. Mr. Lu is a graduate of Chinese Language
and Literature and is an economist. He has over 15 years of relevant
experience in corporate affairs management. Prior to joining the Group,
he has worked in a large alloy enterprise for over 25 years. He joined
the Group in 2015.

Mr. BAI Haisheng, aged 56, currently serves as the chief Engineer of the
group. Mr. Bai graduated from the Department of Materials Science and
Engineering, with a specialization in thermal processing from Taiyuan
University of Technology. Before joining the group, he was responsible
for the production process technology and product research and
development management in several large magnesium enterprises and
has over 20 years of extensive experience in the magnesium industry. He
joined the Group in 2016.

Mr. ZHU Xinlong, also aged 48, is responsible for the production
management of Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Zhu has over 20 years of practical and
management experience in the magnesium industry and is adept in the
production process of magnesium and magnesium alloys as well as on-
site organizational management. He joined the Group in 2019.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents their report and the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries is set out in note 1 to the financial statements,
respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, can
be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 12
to 20 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital importance
to the long-term development of the Group. In order to minimise the
environmental impact, the Group will continue to review and improve
the effectiveness of its management practices from time to time.
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” will be published on or
before 30 April 2025. For details, please refer to the Company’s website.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the Group’s
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 56 to 174.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year under
review. No payment of final dividend to Shareholders is recommended
for the year ended 31 December 2024. The accumulated losses of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 was approximately HK$437,611,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024:

(i)  The Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for 23.2% and 49.5% respectively of the Group’s total
revenue.

(i)  The Group’s largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 30.6% and 53.8% respectively of the Group’s total
purchases (not including purchases of items which are of capital in
nature).

According to the understanding of the Board, none of the Directors,
their associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest customers
or the five largest suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated as
appropriate, is set out on pages 175 to 176. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Except as disclosed in the note 30 to the financial statements, there were
no movements in the Company’s share capital during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has no reserve available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended) (“Companies Act”). Under the Companies Act,
the Company’s contributed surplus is also available for distribution to
the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution made out of
contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its assets
would thereby become less than its liabilities.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong (appointed 16 September 2024)
Shen Yimin (appointed 20 December 2024)
Kwong Ping Man (retired on 28 June 2024)

Lin Pengxuan (resigned on 23 September 2024)

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Shen
Yimin will hold office until the forthcoming AGM of the Company and
being eligible for re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Shum Sai Chit and Ms.
Chi Sile will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer himself/herself
for re-election at the AGM. None of the Directors being proposed for
re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Shen
Yimin, an annual confirmation confirming their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company considers all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SF0")), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and
debenture of the Company

BERSIRARAEE 2 EEREA
Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed to be interested
RN
EBRITRE
-] 2R
RikERE  BREXAE NEER M B

= 18 A FE 2

Personal
Director interests

#e

Long position
=

Nil

KRB
Short position
"

Nil

Approximate
percentage of

interests in

the issued

share capital

Family Number of Corporate of the
interests options held interests Total Company

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continuea)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations

(long position)

EEns

Names of
Directors

LR

Shum Sai Chit

eRIES
Chi Sile
REA
Cheung Sound Poon
TRE

Shen Yimin

R EE AR

Name of associated
corporation

HREALEBRZRERAF

(ML)
Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited
(“Century Sunshine”)
45 K
Century Sunshine
45
Century Sunshine
45

Century Sunshine

BRERZINAREEZ 2 EEREAE (FR)
Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed to be
interested (long position)

(EPN £

Personal
interests

14,666,305

36,736,742

7,500

Rk

Family
interests

P
BRERA

Number of
options
held

20,000,000

5,000,000

BB LS

BBTZ

Rz

k] Bk

% of issued

share

capital of

associated

Total  corporation
34,666,305 0.76%
36,736,842 0.80%
5,000,000 0.11%
7,500 0.007%

MR R E R RA R AR
2024 BFHHE

43




%%éiﬁd: (nﬁ)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EERRzESER &)

REBEERD 2R (FR) (@)

BEXFBEEN RZTE_WF+_A
=t+—B BREFARSFIBEALHUER
ARARHEERMBERR (EERLEF LB
B0 2k RBEROPER EA#ER
FORE ©

B E

BRI RBEREFEEUAIFAEEZE
BER WAREZEERSEZERHRI
BN ER ARARR-_FE-tF+ AN
BB kst 8 (&A1 81)) - AER2HE
EXIRERAAKEELERMZARERE
MEIERRZEEXREE R AEEER KNG
AAL DBl ABRE - HER RBHE
R RIE BERPREBBH -KRIERTHE
HEIERT - B Z BRI BB EKL A
FEFHO0F - T8I Z RIS F MM A3F (R =
E_LFT_A@ABRER) °

R-T-_NE+-_A=+—H %=t8E|ET
I 48 15 RITE 2 BE R ([FE A l) o

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continved)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations
(long position) (continued)

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or
their associates had any interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees for the
development of the Group’'s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the Company
adopted a share option scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “Scheme”). The
qualifying participants mainly include employees and directors of the
Group and any substantial shareholders, and the consultants or adviser,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, service providers, agent, customer
and business partner of the Group who have contribution to the Group.
The Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years since its establishing date. The remaining life of the
Scheme is approximately 3 years (expiry on 4 December 2027).

As at 31 December 2024, there was no options of outstanding under the
Scheme (the “Options”).

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 36 to 38 of the annual
report.

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Directors’ interests in securities”, at no time
during the year was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was in force
for an indemnity against liability incurred by the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Directors nor a connected entity of Directors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which any of the
Company’s holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or

redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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FERK SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

BRENEEEEE TES RN - RNZF At 31 December 2024, the register of substantial shareholders kept

ZHOFTZ A=+ B BEBEARAIEES by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that other

LEIE GO EBBEMFE 2 EERE LM than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors, the

Fratsl - THRRSAE AR G HE AR A following Shareholder had notified the Company of relevant interests
EETRARNERIAR and short positions in the issued share capital of the Company:

BRRER

Name of Shareholder

Ming Xin Developments Limited (Fif#£1) (note 1)
New Bright Group Limited (Fft5£2) (note 2)
40 5 e S EIER B R 2 5 (K 5E3)

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (note 3)
3 E (B FEs)

Chi Wen Fu (note 4)

Thoughtful Limited (Bff5£5) (note 5)

Concord Sea Limited (Fff5£6) (note 6)

So Kit Yee Anita (Fif 5526 ) (note 5 & 6)

Leung Hin Hang Fredric ( Bg5E556) (note 5 & 6)

FisEER HEBTRAE

R4 & E ZEDHK
Number of
ordinary % of issued
shares held share capital
699,505,512 (L) 118.0
699,505,512 (L) 118.0
699,505,512 (L) 118.0
699,505,512 (L) 118.0
31,813,900 (L) 5.4
57,682,680 (L) 9.7
89,496,580 (L) 15.1
89,496,580 (L) 15.1

B3 Notes:

1) Ming Xin Developments Limited £237,049,786% i% 1
DREREEAN ]IT?&E$$¥,E%HK$AS],A71,]9Z
RJT@;}M HSHMEmERERN (TERA
462,455,726 % ¥ B (R ) -

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited £&New Brlght Group 2)
Limitedz 2 &M B R A - L RBEHRBEK
= New Bright Group Limited# 18 /% FMing
Xin Developments Limited# /& # %5 2 2 2B i% {5
W o

(3)  New Bright Group Limited/ tt 42 [% ¢ 2 & & [ff B 3)
RNalotit  REHFRBAEKRAME LGk
18 A% AMing Xin Developments Limited$ A #
mZ B 2 S o

(4)  BXEREEMELERB K (Ming Xin Developments (%)
Limited 2 & & AR AR BRAE E#HI =902
— A FRRKE - M REFREE RS M
B 5&?%%%%&@%%%%@ Xin Developments
Limited G @ 2 28R 2 s o

(6) MEARFEAFTREEAZBEOLHE 2O
AT ZFN ﬂﬁE%%MﬂmkE?ﬁ
Lﬂx@%ﬁﬁu T RAA (EﬂThoughtful Limited) °
B 2 MR ST EEE?(EM%G’AEE%
Thoughtful LimitediR & 75 R G K E =T =04

B E 711,010,000 @A o

(6) WBEAARAHEFREREAZEOZHE  RAR (6)
ZTZZ=FNANAK79,012,6800 B BT E AR
@477 2= 2 7) (BlConcord Sea Limited) ° #R )2 %
TEMBHAEEERHARNBAEIES - 20716
BESREFRE_S_NF+_A=+—8BFE
2B 721,090,000 @BA% o

o s'ﬂ#m#ﬂ
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Ming Xin Developments Limited is the beneficial owner of 237,049,786 Shares and
the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$431,471,192 (which is convertible into 462,455,726 new Shares).

Ming Xin Developments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Bright Group
Limited. As such, New Bright Group Limited is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

New Bright Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine. As such,
Century Sunshine is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ming Xin
Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

Mr. Chi Wen Fu controls more than one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Century Sunshine (the ultimate holding company of Ming Xin
Developments Limited). As such, Mr. Chi Wen Fu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

According to the Scheme of Arrangement between the Company and its scheme
creditors, the Company transferred 65,843,900 issued ordinary shares to the scheme
company (i.e. Thoughtful Limited) on 5 August 2022. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr.
Leung Hin Hang Fredric are the joint and several administrators of the scheme.
Thoughtful Limited has disposed 11,010,000 ordinary shares for the year ended 31
December 2024 pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.

According to the scheme of arrangement between the Century Sunshine and its
scheme creditors, Ming Xin Developments Limited transferred 79,012,680 issued
ordinary shares to the scheme company (i.e. Concord Sea Limited) on 6 September
2023. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr. Leung Hin Hang Fredric are the joint and several
administrators of the scheme. Concord Sea Limited has disposed 21,090,000 ordinary
shares for the year ended 31 December 2024 pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had not
been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements, there
was no connected transaction during the year and in prior period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, as at the latest practical
date prior to the printing of this report.

AUDITORS

Prism Hong Kong Limited will retire and the Company will propose a
resolution at its forthcoming AGM to reappoint Prism Hong Kong Limited
as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong

28 March 2025

W B EEZERERAF
2024 BFHHE 47



B RETRE

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

%@ Prism

RENEEEZRBRITRR
(RERZAMALABRA )

2R

HMEBEZESCEI1T4E B W 8 B 5 5 B %
BRAERDA ([ERA]) REWMEB QA (FHE
RIEEEDNEAVBHRE  BER_-F
“HE+TZA=+t—HBHNHZEAPBRREK
BEZAHLFENGERa A2 ERK
AR FERDBHRLGARERERN
FFAMBHRRWME  BREXGFTBRE
o

BMRE SEPEHRREBES S LA
2 ((BEEGFRAE]) BHRNEBI KR
EEA([EAUBHREENDEEARMK
B EEER_Z_NF+_A=+—HK
BAVBHRAARBEZAH EFENGE
PBRBERGARESRE  YCEBEEA
RGP EERELARE -

ERNER

BACRETESAMAGRMNEBZH
EQ([FBZBCER ) E1TEZ - BIFIEZX
SERTAENETCEARS [REEH
BIRGAEMBREAREZEE] R
—HHE - REFESMASHEMNER
SrtemERTRI(TF R - BB &
SEH YERITTRIFEMEEEE - M
BE RAMEGSHNERERZ DO MEE
RBEMNBEZERIZMHER-

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong

T:+8522774 2188  F:+852 27742322
www.prism.com.hk

To the Shareholders of
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 56
to 174, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is this matter that, in our professional judgment, was
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current year. This matter was addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this
matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
mining rights

Refer to Note 3 and Note 18 to the Our audit procedures in relation to

consolidated financial statements. management’s impairment assessment
included but not limited to:
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As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amounts of property , plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights
were approximately HK$687,793,000,
HK$21,822,000, HK$6,162,000 and
HK$25,755,000 respectively. Impairment
losses of approximately HK$233,842,000,
HK$7,419,000, HK$2,095,000 and
HK$8,756,000 had been recognised
in respect of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights
respectively.
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Evaluating the external valuer's
independence, competence ,
capabilities and objectivity who
performed the business valuation;

Obtaining and reviewing the
valuation report prepared by the
external valuer engaged by the
Group.

Obtaining an understanding of
the valuation process adopted by
the external valuer, including the
valuation model adopted, CGUs
allocation and assumptions used;

Enquiring the external valuer
and management of the Group to
assess the reasonableness of the
significant unobservable inputs
and the accuracy of the source
data;

Challenging the key assumptions
including the revenue growth
rate. We considered the
appropriateness of the discount
rates adopted by management;
and

Involving an auditor’s expert
to assist us to evaluate
the appropriateness of the
management valuer’s valuation
approach, assessing the accuracy
and relevance of key data inputs
underpinning the valuation and
assessing the reasonableness
of the key assumptions applied
based on available market data
and checking the comparable
adopted by the management
expert and our knowledge of the
business and industry.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT [CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and

mining rights (continuea)

The Group is required to perform
impairment assessment on property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining
rights whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may
not be recoverable in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in
Note 3. The recoverable amounts
of the Group’s cash generating unit
(“CGUs") was determined based on
the higher of the asset’s fair value
less costs to disposal and its value-
in-use using discounted cash flow
projection. We focused on this area
because the amounts of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets and
mining rights were significant and
the impairment assessment process
involved significant management’s
judgements and estimates including
the selection of appropriate
comparables and assumptions such
as discount rate and future revenue
in the cash flow projection. The Group
engaged an external valuer to assist
the assessment for the recoverable
amount of the CGUs.

Considering the adequacy
of disclosure of impairment
assessments of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and
mining rights set out note 18
to the consolidated financial
statements.

We found that the management

judgement and assumptions were

supportable by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the Group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purpose of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Mr. Chin Wang Leung.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chin Wang Leung
Practising Certificate Number: P07806

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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REREmkEMEZEBRAR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-_Z_MM&+=-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

= RS
2024
Ff =E FET
Notes HK$'000
WA Revenue 6 242,700
5 AR Cost of sales (294,076)
Fi8 Gross loss (51,376)
EMl sk kg - F5E Other gains or losses, net 6 7,170
SHE R H Selling and distribution expenses (2,265)
TR H Administrative expenses (57,523)
S5 RWER - e MHM Net allowance for expected credit losses 1,781
FEWRFIEEREEEIBEE on trade receivables, deposits and
F R other receivables
ME - BELRREBEERZ Impairment loss recognised on property, 18 (233,842)
BB E 18 plant and equipment
TEFREEEMRNBERE  Impairment loss recognised on right-of- 18 (7,419)
use assets
REFEERRNREER Impairment loss recognised on 18 (2,095)
intangible assets
PERTEE R AR (BB 18 Impairment loss recognised on mining 18 (8,756)
right
B 7% & A Finance costs 8 (54,884)
BAaEE LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 (409,209)
FriS i % Income tax credit 11 790
FEEE Loss for the year (408,419)
Hitb2E X H OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE

REH R EF DB E Rz
A 2 H

BMEBIRBZENLER

Other comprehensive expense to
be reclassified to profit or l0ss in
subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

(49,052)

FEEMEEHHRAEHR

Other comprehensive expense for the
year, net of income tax

(49,052)

—E=-=
2023
FExT
HK$'000

263,491
(348,772)

(85,281
(5,968
(2,301

(83,658

3,992

)
)
)
)

(188,941)
(5.876)
(2,443)
(6,642)

(48,793)

(425,911)
2,311

(423,600)

(74,077)

(74,077)
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meRmRkHEMEEK AR (H)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

BE_Z-_MF+=-A=1+—HBLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024 =

>

—E_F —E-=F
2024 2023
Ff =E FET FET

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FEEXEXHAR TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR (457,471) (497,677)
TAATEEFEERE - Loss for the year attributable to:
P N/NECIE F DN Owners of the Company (408,419) (423,600)
TIATELEFEANEZE Total comprehensive expenses for
AR the year attributable to:
RARER A Owners of the Company (457,471) (497,677)
SREE: Loss per share:
- ERREE - basic and diluted 13 (68.92)78 1l (79.43)7 1L
HK$(68.92) cent HK$(79.43) cent
BEM 2 I sE BANER A B ISk < AR E 5 o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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mE MR R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

BEZT-MF+=H=+—H L% For the year ended 31 December 2024

Sl 111 - —E-=
2024 2023
Fff =F FHxT FExT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Y - BE L& Property, plant and equipment 14 687,793 1,020,495
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 21,822 31,738
mEE Intangible assets 16 6,162 13,196
g Mining rights 17 25,755 35,871
ERBEELTE Total non-current assets 741,532 1,101,300
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
GE Inventories 19 90,514 103,387
FEUNE 5 R K N E R Trade and bills receivables 20 275 3,205
TEFRIE R R EMEWEIE Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables 21 168,130 185,724
JE Ui AR 2R SN B FRIE Amount due from an intermediate
holding company 26 - 8,961
RekReFEEER Cash and cash equivalents 22 24,716 39,954
MEBEEBEE Total current assets 283,635 341,231
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
EAE SRR Trade payables 23 19,418 15,472
Hab et B R BT & A Other payables and accruals 24 31,911 25,752
aHaE Contract liabilities 24 23,169 26,477
& Borrowings 25 108,833 111,228
JE B SR Tax payable 63 -
FER EEER A RIFIE Amount due to an immediate holding
company 26 8,677 5,822
mBAGEESE Total current liabilities 192,071 184,751
RBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 91,564 156,480
EEHERABERE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,257,780

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
BE-ZT ¥+ A=1—HILF For the year ended 31 December 202 ~——
£~

/4 p )

—E_F —E-=F
2024 2023
THERT FERT
HK$'000 HK$’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
BT A Deferred revenue 64,624 66,881
& Borrowings 243,379 223,620
ARG S Convertible bonds 363,526 347,170
BEHIEAEE Deferred tax liabilities 6,077 7,148
FERBEELTE Total non-current liabilities 677,606 644,819
EERE NET ASSETS 155,490 612,961
Ez EQUITY
EATEE AEEER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
BEITRA Issued capital L1 5,926
fEH Reserves 149,564 607,035
B TOTAL EQUITY 155,490 612,961
RESREBITLE 7 SAWBRENRN - The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 174 were approved
—HE=ZR-+t) \BHE&EEeRILIEET and authorised for issued by the board of directors on 28 March 2025
. WHTHEERXRREE and are signed on its behalf by:
Yottt s BE L+
Mr. Shum Sai Chit Ms. Chi Sile
3 EF
Director Director
BERT 2 s ARG A S RE BRI S - The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(2T ZMF+=A="+—HI1EFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEfT
KA

Issued
capital

Rt
REE

Share
premium
account

BABH

Contributed
surplus

BARE
fitfe
GEA0)
Capital
redemption
reserve
(note (ii))

G
bt &
fitte

Convertible
bonds equity
reserve

BBRE
fitfe

Share option
reserve

EERE
(3G

Statutory
reserve
(note (iii))

afEeE
G

Merger
reserve
(note (iv)

At
i

Other
reserve

i
Exchange

fluctuation
reserve

RERA

Retained
earnings

WZEZ=F—-F—8 Asat 1 January 2023 3950 1,591,606 677,123 419 35,651 30,646 120188 (1,500592) (44,209) (181,524) 362,694 1,095,952
FEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - - (he00)  (623600)
FEEMZESTE  Other comprehensive
NBRAEH expense for the year, net
of income tax:
BEBNERR Exchange differences
EEZERER arising from translations
of foreign operations - - - - - - - - - (74,077) - (74077)
FE2AETEE  Total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - - - - - - (76,017)  (423400)  (497477)
BTHRRRLA - Issue of rights shares,
BT HRE net of transaction cost 1976 12710 - - - - - - - - - 14,686
B MERE Share option lapsed - - - - - (30,646) - - - - 30,646 -
ERERE Transfer to reserves - - - - - - 57 - - (57) -

RZEZZFF=F  Asat31 December 2023
=+-AR=Z=M and 1 January 2024
£-5-A

FEEE Loss for the year
FEEMZETE  Other comprehensive
NBRAES expense for the year, net
of income tax:
BERNER Exchange differences
FEEZELZE  arising from translations
of foreign operations

FE2EELAE  Total comprehensive
expense for the year

EREREE Transfer to reserve

IRBIEEIAEHRES  Early redemption on
Convertible Bonds 2

WZZ2ZMETZH  Asat31 December 2024
=t-A

(1,244)

(49,052)

(49,052)

(408,419)

(408,419)

(119

1,264

(437,611)
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REEmf2EPR(E)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
BE-Z-WF+=A=1—HBILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

HERFRBERSHEAMBERNEFOEE FE
149,564,000/ 7T (=% = =4 : 607,035,000/ 7T) °

BABOFBEARARED N GEHBRNEHA
RERERVNEBNAQRBMHEE -

EERBEERMNBRARKRPEARANE ([
B ) EEFBMERMINAFI0%ERETEE
FERHRBNES -

REP K 2B AR 2 AER4A0 RIEH
ZHEDERINOER - ZSEHE AR AR L 10%2
BAT SRR (R BB NEEM B RRLER
E)VEREEMRE BRIEZRFEEHDENBAR
M EARS% - ZHERETANEHMBRARBE
FEZEE  BWRHE QR 2 EE X% K
BBz

RETEEXLZEFAEEEEEARRE (AR
EERBROHOE TR AEEFRAE L
RAEAREBOREEHREES - %FED
AHARGER IR ELLTE2EE TFR
MRS IR ©

AftFEENREHIHARESNZERBRAAE G
FOERES o

i3

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$149,564,000
(2023: HK$607,035,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the Shares of the
Company which was transferred from the Company’s retained earnings upon
repurchase and cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the subsidiaries
based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
statutory financial statements and that for the purpose of certain safety
production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established
in the PRC and the relevant PRC rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are
required to set aside 10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the
PRC statutory financial statements as statutory reserve, except where the
reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital.
The reserve fund can only be used to make good the subsidiaries’ previous
years’ losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State Administration of Work
Safety of the PRC and other relevant regulatory bodies, the Group is required
to set aside funds mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed
rates. These funds can be used for maintenance and/or improvements of
safety of these activities, and is not available for distribution to shareholders.

Merger reserve was arising on the application of merger accounting method in
relation to the combination with entity under common control.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BEZT-MF+=H=+—H L% For the year ended 31 December 2024

—ECNE —E-=F
2024 2023
FHExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEBHERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
75t A &5 18 Loss before tax (409,209) (425,911)
FE Adjustments for:
MiEE R Finance costs 54,884 48,793
IRATIE [l M) 82 (E 5 2 518 Loss on early redemption on
convertible bonds 3,259 -
H|ITH B WA Bank interest income (701) (593)
HEWE  MERZHEZIWEZ  Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (4,759) (3,454)
M2 - BB KR Written-off of property, plant and
equipment 819 573
MYE BMERREERZH  Impairment loss recognised on
BEE property, plant and equipment 233,842 188,941
BLEAEEE®RZBERE  Impairment loss recognised on
right-of-use assets 7,419 5,876
MEEEERRCRERBIE Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 2,095 2,443
REERRZREEE Impairment loss recognised on
mining rights 8,756 6,642
mE - -WERERBLITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 717,780 99,625

FREEEZTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,309 1,336

| EEC#HE Amortisation of intangible assets WAL 4,503

TR 2 s Amortisation of mining rights - 2,416

EWE ZERBEHREERBE Reversal of allowance for expected

B E R credit loss on trade receivables (1,713) (3,948)

e hEMEWSIEZIEEIE  Reversal of allowance for expected

EBBERERRD credit loss on deposits and other
receivables (68) (44)
LEESEIHR KL Operating cash flows before changes in

REmRE working capital (21,872) (72,802)
FER D Decrease in inventories 9,694 83,526
FEWE FEFRERZEERE L) Decrease in trade and bill receivables 4,628 2,156
TN FRIE - e R EEUWFIE Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,

B, (38 n) deposits and other receivables 11,769 (1,994)
FERTE BRFENCR) Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 4,616 (1,380)
HabfEAFOE - JEEFE R &A 4 Increase in other payables, accruals

BEEM and contract liabilities 2,303 20,933

9 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
BE_T_PF+-A=1—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024 ~—~

L)

—E-ME —E-=F
2024 2023
FB T FiE T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEBHBZAS Cash generated from operations 30,439
Eﬁﬁ SHIA Income taxes refund 5,344
KEEB RS RANFRE Net cash flows generated from
operating activities 35,783
REXBZEHERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
B WA Interest received 701 593
HEME  BERZED Proceeds from disposal of property,
Fr 1S 3008 plant and equipment 6,737 4,925
BAYE - BERZE Purchases of property, plant and
equipment (29,566) (28,069)
BRI IRITIE R Z R Decrease in pledged bank deposits = 9,698
BEXB 2R RHFE Net cash flows used in investing
activities (22,128) (12,853)
MEXBCEHERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
EAHE Interest paid (8.474)
?‘TTHQ$F)T/E TIA Proceed from issuance of share capital 14,686
EEER Repayment of borrowings (901)
IZATIE R AR E S 2 R Payment for early redemption of
convertible bonds -
MIERARKE EE}E' Advance to/(repayment from) current
TET/\ZQ KB accounts with holding companies (6,010)
BMEXEB 2R ML FE Net cash flows used in financing
activities (7,905) (699)
iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ Bz NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH
W), R AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (18,895) 22,231
E?ﬂziﬁ%&fﬂ%\ifﬁlﬁ B Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
. of year 39,954 28,599
SNESTER B P AR - FE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net 3,657 (10,876)
FRZESRBELSEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 39,954
RERRSEEEEEHR DM ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
He RIRTTES Cash and bank balances 39,954
BEMT 2 aE BAGR A SRR AR I - The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at
16th Floor, Tower 5, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the manufacture and
sale of magnesium products.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company
of the Company is Ming Xin Developments Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the ultimate holding
company is Alpha Sino Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Raui ey
RPN
ik
Place of
incorporation/
4 registration
Name and business

EEASHaERAR(HERA) TE
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products ~ The PRC
Company Limited (“Xinjiang Tengxiang”)

HUTAR e BEBEERAA e
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources  The PRC
Company Limited

HERSEHIHNRARD PE
Xinjiang Rare Magnesium New Material The PRC
Technology Co. Ltd

mERERRERERA A B
China Rare Earth Magnesium Technology ~ Hong Kong
Holdings Limited

BRMMHERREERAA B
Hong Kong New Materials Industry Hong Kong
Investments Limited

]

BRTERR/ ARG IR RRE

HMRAEE ZADL s fil

Nominal value Percentage of equity Proportion

of issued ordinary attributable to ofvoting FEEH

share/registered capital the Company power held  Principal activities

B#% il
Direct Indirect

ARH171,800,0007 - 100 100% RELRHESREEEER

RMB171,800,000 Manufacture and trading of
magnesium related products

AR %280,332,0007C - 100 100% RELRHESEEHEBER

RMB280,332,000 Manufacturing and trading of
magnesium related products

AE#1,0000007C - 100 100% RERHECBEAEER

RMB1,000,000 Manufacturing and trading of
magnesium related products

103107 7T - 100 100% REZRK

HK$10,310 Investment holdings

1A - 100 100% REZK

HKS$1 Investment holdings

EXRFINEERAYAKREZAFE
XEAEARERAKRAEBEEF
BZIBHH2ARBAMBLRR &
ERR REHEEMHBARZFHIES
BEYHERBRITE -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)"”)

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1
January 2024:

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangement

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
effect on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE-_ZT-W&+=-H=1+—HI% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (continuea)

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
(continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”); and Amendments
to HKAS 1 -Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1

Lack of Exchangeability'

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards - Volume 11

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 77

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent

HKFRS 7 Electricity?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:

Disclosures®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

“ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as describe
below, the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the results and the financial position of
the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements and will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement
of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-defined
performance measures in the notes to the financial statements
and improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. Minor amendments to HKAS
7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share”
are also made.

HKFRS 18, and the consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted.

The application of HKFRS 18 is not expected to have material
impact on the financial position of the Group but is expected to
affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
statement of cash flows and disclosures in the future financial
statements. The Group will continue to assess the impact of HKFRS
18 on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, at the end of each reporting period. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given
in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

The material accounting policies are set out below

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. If a subsidiary prepares its financial
statements using accounting policies other than those adopted
in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions,
appropriate adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial
statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to
ensure conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below]);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and
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3. EXRETBERER#) 3.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
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Business combinations (continued)

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non- controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests are measured at acquisition-date
fair value except for non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are
initially measured either at fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above),
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (coninued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer,
excluded amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts
and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset
or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of magnesium products
is recognised at a point in time when control of the products
has transferred, being at the point the products are delivered
to the customer and the customer has accepted the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and
either the customer has accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value added
taxes.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee
Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for
costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated over
the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the
lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-
of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurs and are included in “administrative expenses”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, HKFRS 16 permits a lessee not to
separate non-lease components, and instead account for any lease
and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to
some of its investment properties. Leases for which the Group is a
lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under
the contract to each component.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (continued)
The Group as lessor (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Lease modification

For operating lease

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals, the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1
January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other gains or losses, net”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest
is treated as a government grant, measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on
prevailing market interest rates.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Retirement benefits costs and termination
benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

The employee of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contribution
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing
benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method,
with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each
annual reporting period. Remeasurements comprising actuarial
gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling (if applicable)
and the return on plan assets (excluding interest) are recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position
with a charge or credit to other comprehensive income in the
period in which they occur. Remeasurements recognised in other
comprehensive income will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss when the plan
amendment or curtailment occurs, or when the Group recognises
related restructuring costs or termination benefits, if earlier. Gains
or losses on settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised
when the settlement occurs. Net interest is calculated by applying
a discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as service costs, which
includes current service cost, past service cost and gains and
losses on curtailments and settlements.

The Group recognises service costs within profit or loss as cost of
sales and administrative expenses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Retirement benefits costs and termination
benefits (continued)

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the deficit or surplus in
the Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this
calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in
future contributions to the plans.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of
when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination
benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring
costs.

Short term and other long term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits
are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years, and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset
related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management,
including cost of testing whether the related assets are functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 3%

Leasehold land and buildings

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 6% to 25%

Plant and machinery 10% to 25%

Motor vehicles 15% to 25%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible Assets (continued)
Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination (continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and amortised using
the straight-line method over its estimated useful life of 9 to 16
years, from the date when the patent is available for use.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and evaluation
assets, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses. The mining rights are amortised on the
production quantities over the total estimated mineral reserve.
Mining rights are written off to the profit or loss if the mining
property is abandoned.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make sale.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and bank
balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand deposits)
and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified,
at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), and
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets subsequently measured at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest model and are subject to impairment.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses,
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount
of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus
the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation
using the effective interest method of any difference between
that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for
any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (coninued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

(continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit- impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the “other gains or losses, net”.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL, specifically.

Investments in equity instruments are classified as
at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost
criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either
the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if
such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases. The
Group has not designated any debt instruments as at
FVTPL.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (coninued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘other
gains and losses, net’ (please specify) line item.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (coninued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or
the length of time or the extent to which the fair value
of a financial asset has been less the then its amortised
cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
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an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) the debt instrument
has a low risk of default, ii) the debtor has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available,
the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing
means that the counterparty has a strong financial position
and there is no past due amounts.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. As for the exposure at default,
for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting
date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for
assets for which simplified approach was used.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce
the carrying amount of the financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Modification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash
flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate,
is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial assets’
original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred
are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial
assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in profit
or loss at the date of modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial
asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing
involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts
issued by the Group, are measured in accordance with the specific
accounting policies set out below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, 2) held for trading, or 3) it
is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined
contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains
or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is
included in the ‘other gains and losses, net’ line item in profit or
loss.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in
the fair value of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are
recognised in other comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to
retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading, or 3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Modification of financial liabilities

A substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial
liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the financial
difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an extinguishment of
the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial
liability. The Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under
the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least
10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment.

The exchange or modification is considered as non-substantial
modification when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of
the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or
fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Convertible note

The component parts of the convertible note are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does
not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting
the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included
in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently
remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as equity
will remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to
share premium. Where the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible note, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.

Transaction costs relating to the issuance of the convertible note
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction cost relating
to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the
carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, net realisable value
of inventories and value in use of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible assets for the
purpose of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniqgues that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into three
levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis
by reviewing their respective fair value measurement.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining rights and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, mining rights, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (continuea)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs to disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (continuea)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non- market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.
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3. EXERBERER® 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (coniinued)
BEALRS Related Parties Transactions
ETHBERT  BEALEEERHE A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
REBABRE
M WEBUTAL BIZALsZA (1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
TIERVEEARNEEGRE - to the Group if that person:
() PEHIkERESAREE () has control or joint control over the Group;
(il HAKEBERTE (i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) AAEBEFIAEETAAH (iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
FEEEENE - Group or of a parent of the Group.
X or
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related Parties Transactions (continued)

(2)  The party is an entity where any of the following condition
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers of the post-employment
benefit plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1);

(vii) a person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related Parties Transactions (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related
parties.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
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made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
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events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets may not be recoverable, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The recoverable
amounts of the Group’s CGUs represent the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to disposal or its value-in-
use. The calculations of fair value less costs to disposal or
value-in-use require the use of estimates and assumptions.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the future revenue in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
and mining rights subject to impairment assessment were
approximately HK$687,793,000 (2023: HK$1,020,495,000),
HK$21,822,000 (2023: HK$31,738,000), HK$6,162,000 (2023:
HK$13,196,000) and HK$25,755,000 (2023: HK$35,871,000)
respectively after taking into account the impairment losses
of approximately HK$233,842,000 (2023: HK$188,941,000),
HK$7,419,000 (2023: HK$5,876,000), HK$2,095,000 (2023:
HK$2,443,000) and HK$8,756,000 (2023: HK$6,642,000)
in respect of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining rights that have been
recognized respectively.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continuea)

(a)

(b)

Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment,
Right-of-use assets, Intangible assets and Mining Rights
(continued)

Details of the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining
rights are disclosed in note 18.

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property,
Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation/amortisation charges for its
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and mining rights. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of right-of-
use assets, property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of similar nature and functions and the mineral
reserve determined by independent technical adviser. It
could change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to market conditions.
Management will increase the depreciation/amortisation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or it will write-off or write- down technically obsolete
or nonstrategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group did not change the estimated useful lives of right-of-
use assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and mining rights.

W B EEZERERAF
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Provision for Expected Credit Losses on Trade Receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms
of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in
notes 20 and 39 to the financial statements.
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EBoBER 5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
ﬁig%i?&ﬁ%ﬁqﬁﬁiiﬁ%#ﬁﬁ Information reported internally to the chief operating decision
DEERSEBERBAGEER - HEFRR makers for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
Ffrﬁ&ﬁ??mﬁ%ﬂ%‘iﬁﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁ K& of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services
EREE_ZT_NFR-ZFT_=F delivered or provided. The Group is principally engaged in one
+ A=+ BLFEXTENETE— single segment, which is manufacturing and selling magnesium
o EBETE ﬁﬁﬂii_&fﬁ’ﬁﬁgﬁﬁ related products during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
MER BE—EREBFRE2EEESR 2023. A single management team reports to the chief operating
Eﬁ%%%ﬂ‘%“‘ﬁﬂﬁig%L&%%E decision makers who comprehensively manages such entire
oo EHit - AEEW BB AT mEDE o business segment. Accordingly, the Group does not have separately

reportable segments.

EER Geographical information
(a) REMREFEFZWA (a) Revenue from external customers
—E-MF ZE=F
2024 2023
FH T T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB A 3 (BB RSN Mainland China (other than Hong Kong) m 263,491
Lt AERHER FRE 2 - The revenue information above is based on the locations of
the customers.
(b) RBEE (b) Non-current assets

—E_-_NF —E =4
2024 2023
TET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000

R (B ERRIN) Mainland China (other than Hong Kong) m 1,101,300
L ERBEEEMIZEEMAE The non-current assets information above is based on the
HE275 o locations of the assets.

MR R E R RA R AR
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5. ¥K2EEH &) 5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

FEEFER Information about major customers
RAFERE-—BEPFPZHEHENAE Sales to a single customer contributed 10% or more of the Group’s
10%3 A E 2 W AT revenue during the year is as bellows:
—E-ME —E_=F
2024 2023
FET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
ZBA Customer A 44,732
ZFB Customer B 43,738

B EXTEZEEN BEEMERRY
AEFEFABRATRNI0%KA L o

6. WARHMKREHEEF 6.
5
WARHMU Sk EE @ FREOW

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or
more to the Group’s total revenue for the year.

REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET

An analysis of revenue and other gains or losses, net is as follows:

LU
2024 2023
FHET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
RE-KEYEEIRBEEFS Revenue from contract with customer
Bz A recognised at a point in time
HESESBAEBRE D Sale of magnesium related products 242,700 263,491
Hit =BT 8 Other gains or losses, net
H|ITH B WA Bank interest income 701 593
HERER Sales of scrap materials 442 621
HEBERME 2 BB Loss on disposal of idled raw materials (1,506) (13,701)
HEME - WEREE W= Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 4,759 3,454
HERA Rental income 5,441 5,582
RATEE ATERES 2 EE Loss on early redemption on convertible
bonds (3,259) -
EHAh Others 592 (2517)
7,170 (5,968)

RAEBAGHFER—FHAT M
EEMBREENFHENERREER
Frafrl Y EBBEDERERBTAEN
MR 5 (B
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All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted by
practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE_F_NF+-A=1—HBILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024  ——~

BAE R

AEBEzBABEENRGIA)T

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

£Z )\

HI| & 18
—E_ME —E =4
2024 2023
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
L EFER A Cost of inventories sold* 223,038 268,052
W WEREETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment*# 77,780 99,625
W% - B KR e Written-off of property, plant and
equipment* 819 573
FREEERTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets* 1,309 1,336
LEWE  BEREREZ Gain on disposal of property, plant and
g equipment (3,454)
WM BMEREEERLZ Impairment loss recognised on property,
REEE plant and equipment 233,842 188,941
FREEERRREREE Impairment loss recognised on right-of-
use assets 7,419 5,876
BELEERRZREERE Impairment loss recognised on intangible
assets 2,095 2,443
B e 1 S Amortisation of mining rights* - 2,416
HEREERZRAERE Impairment loss recognised on mining
right 6,642
| A EE Amortisation of intangible assets* 4,503
1% BN B 5+ Auditors’ remuneration* 800
EERAMMAX Employee benefit expense
(BREESHH) (including directors’ remuneration)
I& - #F2REMER Wages and salaries and benefits in kind 41,526 40,799
RRETEIHR Pension scheme contributions 837 791
42,363 41,590
MES =58 - 558 Foreign exchange differences, net 4,678 2,786
FE Y B 5 BR 3R 78 B Reversal of allowance for expected credit
EEBEEREFERD loss on trade receivables (1,713) (3,948)
Ho b e IR 2 7B A Reversal of allowance for expected credit
EEBEEREFERD loss on other receivables (68) (44)
# FFAGEBEELEMEEmBAR Z[HEK # Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
N other comprehensive income
* AR EERRAMEEBARZ [TTHRX * Included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
] or loss and other comprehensive income

REERHE EEERER AR
2024 BEHRE 19
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8. BIKEH

8. FINANCE COSTS

RIT R EABEBF B

EREAGE MEFRNERFE
<

BEEAGE TAIBRESHE
PRI BB 32

Interest on bank and other borrowings

Effective interest expenses on borrowings
under the Creditors’ Scheme

Effective interest expenses on convertible
bonds under the Creditor’'s Scheme

—E-mEF
2024

TERT
HK$’000

e

2023
TAT
HK$'000
3,563
18,108

27,122

48,793

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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. EEME 9. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION
(a) EEF (a) Directors’ Emoluments
1B ¥E & B N R & F] 383(1)1E & Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
RA(BBREEMRER) ROIE of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
2AWENESHMOT ¢ Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:

BE-_Z-_ME&E+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2024
IHEE

BiTES BYFUNES

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
g3 BEE BRI REA  MEHE?  RHERY
Shum Kwong Ping Cheung Lin Shen
Sai Chit Chi Sile Man"  Sound Poon Pengxuan Yimin®
TER THET TER THET TER THER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HEBALEAEZS Emoluments paid or receivable in
RERBEHARE  respect of a person’s services as a
WEM F#®EE  director, whether of the Company
RADNFAREME  andits subsidiary undertakings

DEER
ne Fees
i Others

REZHEEADT Emoluments paid or receivable in
REMBATDER  respect of director’s other services
FEREHEMEK  in connection with the management
BEMSEREFN  of the affairs of the Company and

its subsidiary undertakings
EEm Other emoluments
e Salaries
EEEL Fixed amount bonus

ZEERENFE Allowances and benefits in kind

B4 BURA Salaries, allowances and benefits

IV subtotal

W] B Discretionary bonus
RINEH/RIK Contributions to retirement
SHEER benefits/pension schemes

BuwaEse Performance related incentive

payments
AR BETE Share-based payment
iofhES

iy Others

fE BRI MAK Amounts paid or receivable as
MAREB% an inducement to join or upon
MREmE R joining the Group
REWEFE

sEes Total emoluments

R R EERRE R AT
2024 BEHRE 121
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9. EEM= ) 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
() ESHFM =2 (a) Directors’ Emoluments (continued)
BE-ZE_=5+=-ZA=+-—H For the year ended 31 December 2023
LFE
HWTES BUFNTES
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
UnLES EES Bimx KEA HEE? R
Shum Kwong Ping Cheung Lin
Sai Chit Chi Sile Man®  Sound Poon Pengxuan® Total
TET TAT TET TAL TAL TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HEBALIEBES Emoluments paid or receivable in
BERBHCHEE  respect of a person’s services
BHMW FHEE  as a director, whether of the
RADFAHEKE  Company and its subsidiary

AAER undertakings
ik Fees - - 30 30 30 90
Eft Others - B _ ) ) )
- - 30 30 30 90
HESHEEALT Emoluments paid or receivable
REMBATES  inrespect of director’s other
FARMOEME  services in connection with the
BOHRERGFM  management of the affairs of
the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
LRk Other emoluments
e Salaries 600 600 - - - 1,200
EREA Fixed amount bonus - - - - . -
ZEHRENFME  Allowances and benefits in
kind ; : - - _ _
5o 2R RA Salaries, allowances and
a/NE benefits subtotal 600 600 - - - 1,200
iy Discretionary bonus - - - - - -
BINER/RIR Contributions to retirement
REEER benefits/pension schemes . 18 - - - 18
EumERe Performance related incentive
payments
IR BERE Share-based payment
IS - - - - - -
Al Others - - - . . -
fEAMEIMAS,  Amounts paid or receivable
MAKEE% as an inducement to join or
NEBMER upon joining the Group
HEMMFIE - - - - - -
600 618 - - - 1,218
goag Total emoluments 600 618 30 30 30 1,308

22 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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9. EEME (2 9. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) ESHFM =) (a) Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

m REZZEZWEANAZTN\ARE o Retired on 28 June 2024
@ REZZEZWFENAZ+=ZAFHE @ Resigned on 23 September 2024
® R-Z_WMF+_A-THEEZE @ Appointed on 20 December 2024
@ RZZEZWFAATARER @ Appointed on 16 September 2024
HE-_Z-_MER-_FT-_=F During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
+-—A=Z+—HILFE A&£H emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of
MEmmAEBERNES I NEM the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group,
Bl - DASHE {50 L hn A AR & B 5k hn or as compensation for loss of office.
AREE - NERBRME -
RAEFERN  WEESFF LM There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
WEXRERETMNWNE 2 T8 agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2023: nil).

—EC=F ) o

10. ZEHFMA L 10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
AEBFAFNEaNAEZEERRE The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
MEBE(ZEZ=F -MB)EE EF included two (2023: two) directors, details of whose remuneration
B EF 1B &R EXX s - Fer =% (= are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the
To=F:=R)FMERREE (W year of the remaining three (2023: three) highest paid employees
ARAREERFTETHRABR) MFARNH who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are
BEEIBE AT - as follows:

ZEImF —ZT=-=

2024 2023

FHET FE T

HK$’000 HK$'000

e EMREYHZ Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,282

RIRETEIH Pension scheme contributions 36

1,318
FHMAFUTHENTFHESHES The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
(WIARRRZESE) AT : directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

ZEWEF =%

2024 2023

FET T T

HK$’000 HK$'000

= 251,000,000 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 3] 3

BRI R EERER AR
2024 AFHRE 123
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1. FIBHIER

MEaBEaRkEMEEBRARAMR,
(FEA) B PR 1S T K o BRAR 4R -

. INCOME TAX CREDIT

The amount of income tax credit charged/(credited) to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents:

—E-WEF i

2024 2023
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000

BIEARLIE - Current tax;
—FR MG - PRC Enterprises Income Tax -
IEEFLIE (P 5E29) Deferred taxation (Note 29) (2,311)
(2.311)

BRARBRABRELARRATREKRS
BB ARMERR RIEAEEEE
MEFEZRBEHEABERB X
BZBRBEXHEER  UREAKE (B
EERER) BERRER ZHERNT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax
at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the
tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the
applicable rates (i.e. the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax
rates, are as follows:

—E_NEF —TE-=4F
2024 2023
FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

75 A & 1R Loss before tax (409,209) (425,911)
BEEMEGE 2 HIE Tax at the statutory tax rates (89,952) (87,294)
AN 2 WA Income not subject to tax (173) (163)
Rk s Expenses not deductible for tax 17,244 36,871

AR HIEE B Tax losses not recognised 72,091 48,275

BRAGSEERBEFEZHIE Tax credited at the Group's effective rate

9]

(790) (2,311)

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BE-_ZT-W&+=-H=1+—HI% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continuea)

(a)

(b)

Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazette
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rate
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits tax above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profit tax rates require
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statement. Hong
Kong Profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No tax is payable for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil) since there was no
assessable profit generated in Hong Kong.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% on the
estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

12. DIVIDEND

The board of directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

W B EEZERERAF
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13. XARRIEEAELBRERE 13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY

FEAATIHAEABGEERERNRH# The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
SEEBTRIE A TEUE to owners of the Company is based on the following data:
2024 2023
THEx FiBT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FFESRERREEEEAMA Loss for the year attributable to owners
BN AEHEB AR F AR of the Company for the purpose of basic
B and diluted loss per share (408,419) (423,600)

BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

FFTESRERREEEEMA Weighted average number of ordinary
B hnAE T B AR BB shares for the purpose of basic and

diluted loss per share 533,312,399
FAEBTNEFHEBRAREE A The weighted average number of ordinary shares of 592,595,103
592,595,103% (== — =4 : 533,312,399 (2023: 533,312,399) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect
B&) - B 1E ) FH DA R e BT SE30FT # 5B the effect of the issuance of rights shares as disclosed in note 30.

MBEITHEBRDOZE -

2 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BE-_ZT-W&+=-H=1+—HI% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

OF THE COMPANY (continuea)

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average market price of the Company's shares
during the period) based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options because the exercise price
of those share options was higher than the average market price
of shares for the year ended 31 December 2023. The denominators
used are the same as these detailed above for both basic and
diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the computation
of diluted earning per share does not assume the conversion of the
Company’s convertible bonds since their assumed exercise would
result in an decrease in loss per share.

W B EEZERERAF
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14. V¥ BERRZRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE-
AELH K%ER BER
EgF  EBIR ES] HE ] 3

Leasehold Furniture,

landand  Construction fixtures and Plant and Motor

buildings in progress equipment machinery vehicles Total
TER TEn TER TEn TEn TAR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R Cost:
RZE-=%-F—-H As at 1 January 2023 1,023,038 27,255 6,457 1,050,986 3139 2110875
HE Addition - 20,899 - 5,662 1,508 28,069
e Disposal (428) - 9) (3,792 (1,762 (5,991)
fi i Written-off - - (153) (4,344) (118) (4,615)
& 5 55 Fxchange realignment (36,481) (1,840) (227) (37.421) (105) (76,054)
RZE-ZF+-A=+—HRk Asat3! December 2023 and

“E-MmE-F-H 1 January 2024 986,149 46314 6,068 1,011,001 2662 2,052,284
HE Addition 97 2,722 8 2177 488 29566
gz Transfer - (9,570) - 9570 - -
e Disposal - - - (11088) (1,163) (12251)
ik Written-off - - - (1918) (132) (2,050)
&R ET Exchange realignment (33275) (799) (201) (34,168) (53) (68.494)
RZE-ME+-A=+—H  Asat 31 December 2024 952,971 42,687 5,949 975,466 1,802 1,999,055
RAMEREE: Accumulated depreciation and

impairment:

R-E-=F-f—H As at 1 January 2023 (268628) (4,072) (6,088) (492,099) (2,627) (773514)
REEHENE Deprecation provided during the year (42672) - (88) (56,534) (331) (99,625)
RE Impairment (106,378) (6,599) (41) (75,680) (243) (188.941)
& Disposal 152 - 8 2680 1,680 4520
s Written-off - - 147 3786 109 4062
ERET Exchange realignment 5936 - 212 15,516 45 21729
WoZE-=E+-A=+-HE Asat3! December 2023 and

—E3-mE-fA-H 1 January 2024 (411590) (10671) (5,850) (602,331) (1347)  (1,031789)
REEHRENE Depreciation provided during the year (34599) - 55 (42,605) (525) (77.780)
A Impairment (131,656) (8,167) (50) (93666) (301) (233.842)
hE Disposal - - - 9,566 707 10,273
s Written-off - - - 1,104 127 1,231
ERET Exchange realignment 6016 - 189 14,421 19 20,645
RZB-ME+-A=+—0  Asat31 December 2024 (571827) (18838) (5,766) (713511) (13200 (1311262
REE: Carrying amount;
RZB-ME+=F=+-H  Asat31 December 2024 381,144 43829 183 262,155 48 487,793
WZEZ=F+ZA=1t—H  Asat3 December 2023 574,559 35,443 218 408,760 1315 1,020,495

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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15.

B %5 R 2= B & ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_ZT-W&+=-H=1+—HI% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

B & - Note:
0) AEEZHELHMREFRBERRZE (i) The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings as at the end
HESTWAT : of the reporting periods are analysed as follows:
—BWEF —T=F
2024 2023
FHET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
R B A 2 A ER AR 4D Medium term leases in Mainland China m 574,559

(ii) RZZE-_WNE+_A=+—8 A£EEE
H B #176,190,0008 T (Z T = =4 :
216,036,000/ 7T) 2 B F B E RS2 %
WALES A EE R ZRITEEE (W
525) °

ME- -BERREBZAREBAAFEEH
RERA IS HARMIEE18

(ii) As at 31 December 2024, buildings, plant and machinery of the Group with a
net carrying amount of approximately HK$176,190,000 (2023: HK$216,036,000)
were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on property, plant and equipment
are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

EREEE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
—E-mE —EB-=F
2024 2023
THE T FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
R—HA—H As at 1 January 31,738 40,629
AKEEFHRITE Depreciation provided during the year (1,309) (1,336)
TEE B Impairment loss (7,419) (5,876)
& X &7 Exchange realignment (1,188) (1,679)
R+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 21,822 31,738

ERREERTHERE BREES
ERET L (ERURPE) ARE
EHIR AR LMK -

R-_ZE-_WNF+—_A=+—H " FH
B FE#)13,989,0008 L (Z T - =4F ¢
15,355,000/ 7T ) & T E R IAK IR 1T 1E
K (MI5E25) ©

FREEEZRENRFIEENL
B R MIEE18 ©

i
op

The right-of-use assets represent the land use rights, comprising
cost of acquiring rights to use certain land, which are principally
located in the PRC, for operating purposes over fixed periods.

As at 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$13,989,000 (2023: HK$15,355,000) have been pledged to secure
bank borrowings (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on right-of-use assets are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

MR R E R RA R AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_Z-_W&+=-H=1+—HIF% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

16. BL&EE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
=7
Patent
AT
HK$’000
A : Cost:
RZEZ=F—A—H As at 1 January 2023 50,747
fE R &5 Exchange alignment (1,809)
R-ZBZ=5+ZA=+—-HBK As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
—E-_NE—-HA—H 48,938
PE H &5 Exchange alignment (1,652)
RZZE-_MF+-—RA=+—H As at 31 December 2024 47,286
RETEEREE Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
RZZEZ=F—H—H As at 1 January 2023 29,808
NG X Amortisation for the year 4,503
BB Impairment loss 2,443
fE 3, B 7 Exchange alignment (1,012)
R-ZBZ_=F+ZA=+—HK As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
—E-_NFE—-HF—H 35,742
PGS g g Amortisation for the year 4,415
BEEE Impairment loss 2,095
fE 5 &5 Exchange alignment (1,128)
RZZE_WNFE+A=+—H As at 31 December 2024 41,124
BREE : Carrying amount:
R-ZZE-OmOE+Z=ZRA=+—H As at 31 December 2024 6,162
RZE_=F+=_A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 13,196

BREEZRENAFBHIRGEE Y
BRI 18

Details of the impairment testing on intangible assets are disclosed
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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B %5 R 2= B & ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_ZT-W&+=-H=1+—HI% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

17. MINING RIGHTS

FA 7T
HK$'000

B : Cost:
R_ZE_=F—H—H As at 1 January 2023 55,800
fE R &5 Exchange realignment (1,989)
RZEBE-=F+-A=+—-HK As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

—EB-m&E—A—A 3811
& H, & 5 Exchange realignment (1,815)
RZZEZWHFE+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2024 51,996
Eiti#ey . Accumulated amortisation:
W-ZE-=F—H—H As at 1 January 2023 9,255
REEEH Amortisation for the year 2416
HEEE Impairment loss 6,642
i 5 &5 Exchange realignment (373)
R=ZZBZ=ZF5+=ZA=Z+—-HK As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

—E-_NE—-H—H 17,940
I Amortisation for the year -
VERIEN SR Impairment loss 8,756
& 5 &7 Exchange realignment (455)
RZZEZWHFE+ZHA=+—H As at 31 December 2024 26,241
BREE : Carrying amount:
R=Z-OF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2024 25,755
RZEBE_=%+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 35,871

BHIDURTEEMEALTHASE
AW RERE WEAREONES T
VAZE 3K

SRR A2 RN RA B
R HE18 o

The balance represents mining rights of the dolomite mine located
in Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which is amortised by
the production quantity over the ore reserve.

Details of the impairment testing on mining rights are disclosed in
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

W B EEZERERAF
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18.

132

ME BERZHE ERE
EE EFREERRBREZ
AR

BE_T-_WNE+_A=+t—HL*F
B AEBENEBRAETELELRS

B TAREEEESHRG - ENE
EmEBOReELBEM([(REEL

B MEERRTNESR  AEE
ERERBGFERETR  WHIEMR
B9 B #) 687,793,000 T (—Z T — =
£ :1,020,495,0007% 7T) * 21,822,000/%8
7T (Z & = =4 :31,738,000/ 7T) -
6,162,000 7T (ZZF = =4 : 13,196,000
7 JT) &%25,755,0008 T (ZE = = F ¢

35,871,000/ 7C) B % - B K& -
FREEE EFEERKRERENT
BABRT o

WELEBHAEEMBNRESES
BluzalE e MAEES G
&ﬁ%?i SRz AR B &5 BF
ROBIAERE " BEERHED
XEE- iﬁ%?‘i SAMEEREE
%4 /7415320008 L (ZFE =4
1,101,300,000/& 7T) °

ReELEMMTWRE BB EGE

BEEfTEEr N-_E-_F+=
A=+—H Z#aEFREREAEE
EREHENRERKGFHTKER
MRS RETERN FANREKREX
A1355% (ZF =4 : 13.90%) ° iR
SE(ZE-_=ZF :5F) R RE
THERB00% (T =4 : 2.16%) &K
REH - DERTERRIER - BN
BHEBTENRPBFEHEEER -FH
BEFENS BHXZBRAEEK
AFEMNNEREESTH  DIRBERGE
AEMNMBTRBELEEEH SR
RETEHET -

18.
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IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
AND MINING RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s business
was underperformed and incurred losses due to the constraints to
working capital. In view of the economic performance of the cash
generating unit (“CGU”) of magnesium product business which
was worse than expected, management of the Group concluded
there was an indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining rights with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$687,793,000 (2023: HK$1,020,495,000),
HK$21,822,000 (2023: HK$31,738,000), HK$6,162,000 (2023:
HK$13,196,000) and HK$25,755,000 (2023: HK$35,871,000),
respectwely.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU, to
which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, including allocation of corporate
assets when reasonable and consistent basis can be established.
The carrying amounts of assets of CGU was approximately
HK$741,532,000 (2023: HK$1,101,300,000).

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering the following 5 years with a post-tax discount rate
s 13.55% (2023: 13.90%) as at 31 December 2024. The cash flows
beyond the five-year (2023: five-year) period are extrapolated using
3.00% (2023: 2.16%) growth rate, which is based on the industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the long-term average
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for
the value in use calculated is the budgeted revenue, gross margin
and operating expenses which are determined based on the cash-
generating unit’s past performance and management expectations
for the market development.
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19.

B % 8 & M & ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE-_ZT-W&+=-H=1+—HI% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

ME -BERZE FHA®E  18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EE BREERKREREL EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BB (2) AND MINING RIGHTS (continued)
BEREFGHER AEEEEEE Based on the result of the impairment assessment, management of
FHREeEABUMNATKRE S EENE the Group determined that the recoverable amount of the CGU is
HE BRELBE2EZEEAERA lower than the carrying amount. The impairment amount has been
FREHNSEDE BEREE - allocated to each category of property, plant and equipment, right-
FRAEEEREREE NUESHER of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives such
EEMNREEETEREZEAAEAR that the carrying amount of each category of asset is not reduced
BEBRHEEKAz2&eE HEMREE below the highest of its fair value less cost to disposal, its value
RE-REBECHAEESFERSE B in use and zero. Based on the value in use calculation and the
EME BEERSE TAEEE - allocation, impairment loss of approximately HK$233,842,000 (2023:
BIVEENMRBERESEOBENGEA HK$188,941,000), HK$7,419,000 (2023: HK$5,876,000), HK$2,095,000
Mz EEENREED B R EE (2023: HK$2,443,000) and HK$8,756,000 (2023: HK$6,642,000) has
18 49233,842,0008 T (ZE = =4 : been recognised against the carrying amount of property, plant and
188,941,000/ JT) ~ 7,419,000/ 7T (= equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights
£ — = 4 : 5,876,000/ ;t) * 2,095,000 respectively within the relevant functions to which these assets
,%73 (ZZE Z =4 : 24430008 1) & relate.
8,756,000/8 7T (= = = 4 : 6,642,000
/%TE)
r& 19. INVENTORIES
“EBIMF —E_=
2024 2023
FHERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
R Raw materials 57,962
K o Finished goods 45,425
103,387

MHEM R EEERERAT
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20. EWE SF R 20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

—E_NEF ==
2024 2023
FExT FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEUWE 5 R (HFEG) Trade receivables (note (i)) 139,243 145,687
A EEEEEE Allowance for expected credit loss (138,968) (144,038)
275 1,649
FE U R Bills receivable - 1,556
3,205
P 5E - Note:
0) AEEHERF2ESEEURBELAHE (i) The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The

7 -REH-—RTERIBOR - BEEFFPE
ERBRERE - AR EEREEZHR
ENEEFRY HRERRFEERE -5
MEBFEREZD R G  EN LR
o MmzAEBZEEESETERRS
DRZEF  BUESANEESETER
AEEWEAEEEE ZRREHRFTEE
MEMRKEREERARE - BRES
BRRTEFLE

RBEMRZEREHID>NERE
SEFXHBEREEEERE) 2K
AN TPIR -

credit period is generally not over 180 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade receivables related to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are interest-free.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance
for expected credit loss, is as follows:

D RY60K Within 60 days
61290K 61 to 90 days
91E 180K 91 to 180 days

S —E=4F
2024 2023
TET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000

1,649

1,649
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20. BRE R (# 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
EWESEREHEEBBERE & The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of trade
BT receivables are as follows:

—E_gEF —ET-=
2024 2023
FExT T T

HK$’000 HK$'000

F4 At the beginning of year 144,038 153,383
EHEEBERERDFHE Reversal of allowance for expected credit

loss, net (1,713) (3,948)
PE =58 Exchange difference (3,357) (5,397)
RER At the end of year 138,968 144,038
RERSAMKABEEEETRE An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
DT AT ETEEBEEBE  BEX provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
DERMEBEUEEREN (AiRmERE rates are based on internal credit ratings for groupings of various
o EmER  BRERITR UK customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical
EAZENEME A /ERRRE /AR region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by
HE)NZEELPHDHBESHABEE letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation
SITRETE o At ERE R K N LE reflects the probability weighted outcome, the time value of money
R EBBELABRSABRISEHR and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
BAEEE B AT KT8 R R 2R A reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
MANEGEEZEN -FEHREEEA of future economic conditions. Details of assessment of expected
ST FFIEE AT FE39 o credit loss was detailed in Note 39.

mERHT E R R AR
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20. BRE SRR #) 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
HKABBEES N AEEE S EKK Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
EMEERBRERNAT the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

FHEER AREAE BiE&E

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
—EoWFE+-—A=+—H 31 December 2024
RVER (AR B9) Current (not past due) 277 2
i BB R A More than 1 year past due 138,966 138,966
139,243 138,968
EHMERE  EERE  BREE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-=F+-_A=+—H 31 December 2023
BNER (R EA) Current (not past due) 0.66% 1,660 11
0 HARR A More than 1 year past due 100% 144,027 144,027
145,687 144,038
FEWE S RFBETHOFBH RN Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out
5139 ° in Note 39.
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BF 7% R & M = (&)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE_F_MF+-A=1—HBILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024  ~——~
)

b FEUL  21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

=%,
MIE
ZEImF —T-=F
2024 2023
FExT T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
AR RIE (M EE)) Prepayments (note (i)) 164,511 182,631
re Deposits 11 190
H b & WOk A (B 32 Gi)) Other receivables (note (ii)) 3,631 2,996
168,153 185,817
EHEEEERE Allowance for expected credit loss (23) (93)
168,130 185,724
ZeoMEaRE- HHEEEIE None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The allowance

BsREMEYRIAER -

for expected credit loss was related to other receivables.

PR E - Notes:
0) R-ZE-mME+=-A=+—8 BNHEA (M As at 31 December 2024, prepayments mainly comprise of prepayment of
F EBEFE 2 TE M K IE4142,507,000% inventory of approximately HK$142,507,000 (2023: HK$180,743,000).
T (ZZF = =4 : 180,743,000 7T) °
(i) Hp i mE I Z a0 & e Yk (o /Y 1 (i) Other receivable mainly comprise of value-added tax recoverable in the PRC of
{ERi 492,509,000/ 7T (= = =4 : 2,268,000 approximately HK$2,509,000 (2023: HK$2,268,000).
BIT) ©
e hEMBEWHRIBEZBEHREERIE The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
BT deposits and other receivables are as follows:
—E-ME —T==
2024 2023
THE T BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
F4 At the beginning of year 142
FEH{EEBERERD Reversal of allowance for expected credit
loss (44)
MEH =% Exchange difference (5)
RER At the end of year 93
e REMEWRRERETEOFES Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other receivables

B39 o

are set out in note 39.

REERHE EEERER AR
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22.

138

BehkREEEER

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ReMREFEER

Cash and cash equivalents

—E-NE ===
2024 2023
FExT FE T
HK$'000 HK$'000

24716 39,954

RB|EBR AEEUARKHEZ
e kiFeFEEE 4 A13900,000%
TL (=T = =4 1 24,621,000 7T) > A
RETSEHLHLEMER AW
R B HNE B IR GO K EE - S0E
LNEERERE AEEEESRE
REAREELEBNRTHEARE
HnBEMER -

RITBESDIREBERITEARITERA
RZFPNERBAME - BRI AEH
BSREHR EMEMFERZHR
R=EA BEE B 2 EHERFK
FMEBRBAME - RITFERFRRAR
IHE R RSB A R (S SRAC 8RR SRTT

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$13,900,000 (2023: HK$24,621,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’'s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BEZT-MF+=ZA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024 7N
[ '

23. ENEZERR 23. TRADE PAYABLES
RRERREBEZHIHE»NEMNE An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
SGERZERDITO TR reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

—E-F —E =4
2024 2023
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
NAIFS Within 60 days 5,248
61290K 61 to 90 days 32
B E90K Over 90 days 10,192
15,472

ENESERTHINE SEHETE The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally

BT HA180K o settled within 180-day terms.

24, EENRERESTEHKR  24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT

EHEE LIABILITIES
—ZE_NEF — T =
2024 2023
FH T FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
e E A (BFFEG)) Accruals (note (i)) 3,292
Hoth i 5 308 (B REGD) Other payables (note (ii)) 22,460
25,752
& # 8 E M sEGin &av) Contract liabilities (note (iii) and (iv)) 26,477

REERHE EEERER AR
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BHE_ZTC

24, EHENRERETERR
EHNEEB®)

EEtERAMEMBEMNRELSRE KA
BMBEBREE -

GEE

Notes:
0] WZZ-—mE+=—B=+—8 " E:HX
ST @ B T 4a ) 492,373,0007%8
= 124920008 70) RERTE
¥ & F#9790,000/ 7T (=T = =4 : 800,000
BIT) ©

(i)

(i) RZFE-ZWFE+—A=+-—8 HtE[
FRIEE B R FE R B499,624,0008 T (= F

— =4 :3,721,000 ) °

(i)

(i) ERHEEHEDNBEPRITANE A%
ERREFTBINENESE - DEEZS
HENRFERRNTHERIHRERA
EHEBE AFEBRRANEGNEEHRET
H) UL 25 49 526,477,000 T (ZE - = 4F ¢
14,598,000/ 7T) ° AN &% B R A TB A BRIE T
BWFBRIEEABELS - MEA ML K
NRERLFEETZRARMAETRUFE M
R RESBEIVIRCERHEENEE
M -

(iii)

vy AREEZZEHOT (iv)

MF+=A=+—HB %% For the year ended 31 December 2024

24, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continuea)

Accruals and other payables are interest-free and repayable on
demand.

As at 31 December 2024, the accrual expenses mainly represent accrued salary
and staff benefit of approximately HK$2,373,000 (2023: HK$2,492,000) and
accrued professional fee of approximately HK$790,000 (2023: HK$800,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the other payable was mainly represents interest
payable of approximately HK$9,624,000 (2023: HK$3,721,000).

The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts when signing the
contracts with customers on sale of magnesium products. The transaction
price allocated to these sales is recognised as a contract liability at the time
of initial sales transaction. Revenue recognised in the current year that was
included in the contract liability balance was approximately HK$26,477,000
(2023: HK$14,598,000). The Group considers the advance payments schemes
does not contain significant financing component and accordingly the amount
of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the time value of money
taking into consideration that the payment terms were not structured primarily
for the provision of finance to the Group.

The movements of contract liabilities are as follows:

K—R—RZH&H
BARAFERENENEERR 2 KR

Balance at 1 January

FRUBREEH 2 EHNAEEN
EHED

Exchange realignment

Revenue recognised from performance obligations
satisfied during the year

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
receiving deposits during the year

Rt-R=+—HZ#&%

Balance at 31 December

—E-F —F==
2024 2023
FET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
26,477 14,598
(26,477) (14,598)
23,933 27,223
(764) (746)
23,169 26,477

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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25. B 25. BORROWINGS
—E_NEF —E-=
2024 2023
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
|ITER Bank borrowings 67,251 69,600
H b g 5% (BT EGD) Other borrowings (note (ii)) 284,961 265,248
352,212 334,848
B Borrowings:
—F R IR E KB Due within one year or on demand 108,833 111,228
M A EET B A SRR Due within a period of more than two
EIH7 years but not exceeding five years 243,379 223,620
352,212 334,848
W IMEERDBESE Less: Amounts shown under non-current
liabilities (243,379) (223,620)
TMERBIBESE Amounts shown under current liabilities 108,833 111,228
B BEREREHONERER Less: The carrying amount of bank and
R MmARKEENRTT other borrowings that are repayable
R H b & KR EE (R ED on demand due to loan defaults or
BE5R) (HiEiv) breach of loan covenants (shown
under current liabilities) (note iv) (108,833) (111,228)

R —F AN ER IR Bk ER Amounts shown under current liabilities

ZHRIT R E A BRI ERE for the bank and other borrowings that
BEzeH are repayable within one year or on
demand -
B Borrowings:
B HEM (FFEEW) Secured (note (i) 194,327 189,782
Fe i Unsecured 157,885 145,066

352,212 334,848

R R EERRE R AT
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25. fE (&)

AEEE R B ®
) BEMT :

25. BORROWINGS (continued)

a# The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as
follows:

HZE
—E-=F
+-A=+—-H
ILEE LFFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BERAxX Effective interest rate:

& 7 | & &R Fixed-rate borrowings 8.47% 8.47%
FENF R Variable-rate borrowings 4.25%-5.48% 4.25%-5.48%

BRA T EEEE Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:
—E-MF —T_=F
2024 2023
FTET FET
HK$’'000 HK$'000
ARE RMB 67,251 69,600
BT HK$ 243,379 223,620
0 Us$ 41,582 41,628
352,212 334,848
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AR ERA194,327,0008 7T (Z - =4
189782000/%7z)aa1ﬁiaﬁﬁt§l% 1% B IR

NAI M —RARMBARER  TUABEE
Y ZE - BB &R 49176,190,00078 7T &
RS EL3989,0008TT (— T - =4
Y3 - R E I A% £9216,036,0000 7T K F
I #E B E 4915,355,00058 7T ) KR o

HifE R ERQBEERS®A rl&f}‘é
B2 El]) B E FA41,582, oooﬁén (=%
Z =& 141,628,000 7T) ¢ (b)EE AGHE
18 T & &243,379,0007% 7T (:%E:Ei :
223,620,000/ 7T) °

R-ZE-_—_FRA=Z+—H8 X&LBEHA
720,419,0007 7T K K (B 2 & X B R & &
AT BIERRRR - RIBRERAGTE - XHESR
RESEAQERAFHRIEZE ([BE
AL ROAEBREFBERRIEE (F2
BB sE28) © LE%AELEﬁﬂJHﬁ HE—
T ERAZT B BREEANER
MERLI% ZEBENVILERASE
5198,594,000/8 7L - R=—ZE —MF+ = A
=+—HMEB# S 5 A243,379,0007 7T ©

MR-ZT-_mE+-F=+—8 " fITHER
&Efﬁfﬂﬁmﬂuféi@i&’%ﬂ%%@2%7.39%(:
TZ=4F :731%) °

AEBETEERERAEXEERHES
BARNZ#BKEGE R_T-_WF+=A
=+—HB  FRE#%{E72108833,000% T (=

T = = F 1 111,228,000/ JT) MY f& ZE )8
FREREREH TR _WF+=
A=+—BHGEUBRRRT2EAR
%bﬁﬁodsﬁﬁft*&ﬁhm;%umiﬁm
HARABEFBHRE -REEWBREIE
B - BB AR B IR R R -
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25. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Secured borrowings of approximately HK$194,327,000 (2023: HK$189,782,000)
were guaranteed by Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and a
fellow subsidiary, and secured by pledged property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$176,190,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$13,989,000 (2023: property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$216,036,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$15,355,000).

Other borrowings included (a) an International Finance Corporation (“IFC")
loan of approximately HK$41,582,000 (2023: HK$41,628,000); (b) liabilities under
the Creditors’ Scheme of HK$243,379,000 (2023: HK$223,620,000).

As of 31 May 2022, the outstanding borrowing in the principal amount of
approximately HK$720,419,000 was discharged pursuant to the Creditors’
Scheme. Pursuant to the Creditors’” Scheme, the admitted claims had been
allocated into (a) a 5-year term extension option (“Option A”) and (b) a
convertible bonds swap option (please refer to note 28). The option A had
extend the maturity date to 31 May 2027. The effective interest rate of Option
A is 8.47%, and the initial recognition of such liabilities is HK$198,594,000 and
amortized to HK$243,379,000 as of 31 December 2024.

The weighted effective interest rate of bank and other borrowings as of 31
December 2024, is approximately 7.39% (2023: 7.31%).

Certain of the Group’s facilities were subject to the fulfillment of covenants
commonly found in lending arrangements. As of 31 December 2024, borrowings
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$108,833,000 (2023: HK$111,228,000)
were in default of repayment or loan covenants and were classified as current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December
2024. The Group is in negotiations with the lenders to refinance the borrowings
at the end of the reporting period. As of the approval date of the consolidated
financial statements, the aforesaid borrowings were not yet renewed nor
repaid.

MHEM R EEERERAT
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26.

217.
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W, (EA) PEERAD
7/ EEEZERAT

NRZZE-_ME+_A=+—HBK_ZF
T+ A=+t—HEMNEEER
NAIFEAERE 2B RIEZERE
2 o fEUT A I AY A B FUIB A I
ZEEFFESETE 0 BIRERERE -

I FE YA

26. AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN INTERMEDIATE/

IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount due (to) an
immediate holding company is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The amount due from an intermediate
holding company is unsecured, interest-bearing at a fixed rate of
5% per annum and repayable on demand.

27. DEFERRED REVENUE

B8 M R 2 U 3R

Government grants received related to
assets

—E-NE T =4
2024 2023
FET T T
HK$’000 HK$’000

ABRECBHEEZER ALWXRL
CEBEREERATNR_E——_F8
BB — DR - RIBEZ B
EMBENEERABQLTREL S B ER
XERARIRETBKES (TEB]) U
REEXERRERRESYE BER
RIBHERE -

HE-_T_NFER_ZE-=F+=
A=+—BLLFE  A&£EIWEKE
TME MEBEE-_ZE-_NFL_-F
T+ AZt+—BHBILFEIERE
AT E b U A o IE FE UK A BR T B R
DTy ER ZEATE o

PiT Y 2R X 7 FE MR TR 2 B B - )06
R IE WA N B AR AHUR AT B A 7
X RZBATHEEEATRFHNE
PR
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In order to encourage the development of magnesium industry,
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Limited entered
into an agreement with the local government in 2012. Pursuant
to the agreement, the local government agree to provide financial
assistance (the “Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited to improve their production
technology and enhance the capacity of the property, plant and
equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has
not received any Assistance and there were no other income was
recognised for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The
carrying amount of deferred revenue decreased due to the arise of
exchange difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is initially
recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently recognised in
profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset by way of as a
reduced depreciation charge expense.
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28. MTEIBRES 28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

RZE-__FNAREH  AQAR
BEEBAFENEKERETASERE
458,390,000 T T E B A IR (E 5
(TATEM]ESR]) -

AERESE TESFFE AERN NS
ME0.933B L (ERMAFEHBR zFE
EFAE) (Z T =4 : 09338 T) B E
BmenEnEsNEEE AR BT
HEARFTTRAF - F A AR AT EIRE
FEHARBERELER - X2A K
FERIRARIEA A R SR e ] SR ES -

ERTEBEFKANFR  F2H
ARBlBHA-E-_—_FRA=ZHHN
K o

RZZEZWMFRA+TH  AQRAEE
FIEEMR=-AEHFEAB A (Ming Xin
Developments Limited * Fong Chi Keung
KMTWLS Partners) RN IO A TE A
12,536,000/ T AIEHRES BEHE
FH#)7316,000,0008 T - BLEMEE B H
B FE T F) 2 A& 491,727,000 7T - B E &6
SPREREANARBERBERSH
AR E R I E R 5 2B o &) & B A AR
ERRE AR E0 o0 2 A B 2 R 4V1,244,00078 7T
B A EHER o Ft - & 2£493,259,000
BIIHNEEERGEEERRNER -
MREBR A ERESE BREREBD
#R1E 491,244,00078 7T 2 B A RETEE -

REAEENSTERR  J8BRES
BREANLHENERATAREREA
BELESTANERINOBEREH
BELED  WEREERSEBNU
BreBnReds—ReREER
BEEHBENARA ARG DT ALG
H o RE#RETA AaBEAdIOQR
BROW AR iR T ANIRTTHS A
RERHE - HEMOoORNERN A8
mESEEREBIBET2Y - BITAE
EEZERRSEEEHEVEREM
WFBETAHOM - AEBIRNE
FE AR B ) B BRI R 738.47% o

On 5 August 2022, the Company has issued zero coupon convertible
bonds (“Convertible Bonds”) with aggregate principal amount of
HK$458,390,000 pursuant to the terms of the Creditors’ Scheme.

The Convertible Bonds entitle the bondholder to convert to shares
at a conversion price of HK$0.933 after adjusted for the effect of
rights issue during the year (2023: HK$0.933). The maturity date of
the Convertible Bonds is 5 years from the date of issue. Conversion
may occur at any time before maturity date of the Convertible
Bonds. The Company will redeem the Convertible Bonds if the
bonds have not been converted on maturity date.

For more details of the terms of Convertible Bonds. Please refer to
the Company’s circular dated on 3 May 2022.

On 10 May 2024, the Company had early redeemed the Convertible
Bonds partially with the principal amount of HK$12,536,000 at
redemption amount of approximately HK$16,000,000, which held
by three bond holders, Ming Xin Developments Limited, Fong Chi
Keung and TWLS Partners. The accrued interests up to redemption
date are approximately HK$1,727,000. The fair value of the liability
component at the date of redemption with the difference between
the fair value of the liability component and the redemption
cost allocated to equity component and the equity component of
approximately HK$1,244,000 had been derecognised. As a result, an
aggregated loss of approximately HK$3,259,000 was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Upon the redemption
of the convertible bonds, the remaining value of the conversion
option reserve of approximately HK$1,244,000 was released to
accumulated losses.

According to the Group’s accounting policy, the Convertible Bonds
are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument. The fair
value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
The equity element is presented in equity under the heading of
“convertible bond equity reserve”. The issuer redemption options
are considered as closely related to the host debt and are not
separated from the host contract. The effective interest rate of the
liability component on initial recognition is 8.47% per annum.
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28. MHEBRESR &) 28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continved)

146

%)J/EJr)\Tﬁii;%%%%\_’ﬁﬁ{%E’\]ﬁ?ﬁﬁ
EEENIBRERERBAN -

R-ZFT-_WF+-A=+—HB A&

The convertible option initially included in convertible bonds equity
reserve was transferred to retained earnings upon expiry.

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible

HEAEBEID AR E A363,526,000 Bonds at 31 December 2024 amounted to HK$363,526,000 (2023;
BT (ZF = =4 1 347,170,000/ T) - HK$347,170,000), which are within level 3 of the fair value
BARBEESHME =1 - hierarchy.

AEERTIANKAERE
BEME

DRfE

$W% MAERESEDFAERE
DRBERBHUWT

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values.

The Convertible Bonds issued during the year have been split into

the liability and equity components as follows:

TRERT
HK$’000

352,175
(5,005)

Fair value of the Convertible Bonds at the issuance date
Equity Component

RETAHRNBERD
BRI (M5E8)
FRREMNED

Liability component at the issuance date
Interest expenses (Note 8)
Early redemption during the year

347,170
28,892
(12,536)

R-EBE-_WNF+_A=+—HH
BEBD

Liability component as at 31 December 2024
363,526

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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AR ERLIE 29. DEFERRED TAXATION
FRREEMBRRARBERZELTH The components of deferred tax balances recognised in the
HESNER SO REZHNT : consolidated statement of financial position and the movements

during the year as follows:

EEMEAE Deferred Tax Liabilities
AERESs FHAEEE st
Convertible Right-of
bond use assets Total
FET FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZE-_=ZF—H—H As at 1 January 2023 6,861 2,693 9,554
Eﬁ‘)\?v?(:l\ = N E Aty Credited to consolidated statement
2HEIAE of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income - (73) (73)
BN sERELSEBE Deferred tax related to movement of
ZIEFER IR convertible bonds (2,238) - (2,238)
& 5 &7 Exchange realignment - (95) (95)
R-ZEZ= As at 31 December 2023 and
+=ZBA=+—-HBK 1 January 2024
—E-mE—-HF—H 4,623 2,525 7,148
FFAGRE BT R EAM Credited to consolidated statement
FHERAE of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income - (72) (72)
EAEIRELSEEEH Deferred tax related to movement of
ZIRERIIE convertible bonds (781) - (781)
IZRIEE 8B ES Early redemption on Convertible bonds (205) - (205)
PE 5 E 7 Exchange realignment - (13) (13)
R-ZZE-NE+=A As at 31 December 2024
=+—H 3,637 2,440 6,077

W B EEZERERAF
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION (continuea)

Deferred Tax Liabilities (continuea)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong before Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD"”) assessment of approximately
HK$94,090,000 (2023: HK$36,537,000) that are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in
Mainland China of HK$nil (2023: HK$nil) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised by these
subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding dividend taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding dividend taxes of the
Group’s subsidiaries, associate, and joint ventures established in
Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. There was no significant
temporary difference associated with investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associate in Mainland China at the end of the
reporting period (2023: nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and issued
share capital is as follows:

Number of Share
shares capital
2817
kB EE [
HK$’'000
THET
BEITRAR Issued and fully paid:
FREEE LT R Ordinary shares of HK$0.01
—E=F 001BT) (2023: HK$0.01) each
RZZEZ=F—HA—H As at 1 January 2023 395,063,402
BATHAR RS (B sEa) Issuance of right shares (Note a) 197,531,701
MR-ZZEB-=%#+=-H=+—H "+ Asat 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024

“EOEE-A-BR

—E-OmE+ZA=1+—H

and 31 December 2024

592,595,103

B3

(a)

R-ZZE-_=ZF+A=+H AQARER=
E_-—FAA-T - RAEREMBBRER
DR —RERRG 2 EEETHEHR R
BEASRMHEMRKRKH.08E T

&) A 7 B E51,230,2120% 4 PR AR 15 o R it
& 4 1% - B RRAE AR AR B RIRRR AR 19
#H B 5 5 A0.9337%8 7T 12.80,242,8920% ©

EHELZHE  F2HEAARABHAEZT
—=F+AXNA - ZE-_=F1+A=-++
AR=ZTZ=F+A=+THZRAE -

Note:

(a) On 30 October 2023, the Company carried out a rights issue on the basis of one
rights share for every two existing shares held on 21 September 2023 at the
subscription price of HK$0.08 per rights share.

The scheme company applied for 1,230,212 rights issue. With the effect of the
rights issue, the adjusted conversion price per share and number of conversion
share would be HK$0.933 each and 80,242,892 respectively.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 6
October 20283, 27 October 2023 and 30 October 2023.
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31. B
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31. SHARE OPTIONS

On 4 December 2017, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
approved by the shareholders of the Company. Under the Scheme,
the Company may grant options to the directors or employees of
the Group and any substantial shareholder, consultant or adviser,
distributor, contractor, supplier, service provider, agent, customer
and business partner of the Group (the “Eligible Participant”) to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

Options may be granted on such terms and conditions in relation to
their vesting, exercise or otherwise as the directors may determine
in its absolute discretion, provided that such terms and conditions
shall not be inconsistent with any other term conditions of the
Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on Main Boards stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the option;
(i) the average prices of the shares on Main Board as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer of the option; and
(iii) the nominal value of the shares. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible Participants
remain in the service of the Group or substantial shareholder from
the grant date of the share options up to the designated exercise
date.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each eligible person in the twelve-
month period expiring on the offer date must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Group. Where any grant of options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Group, or any of their respective associates, would result in
the securities issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the twelvemonth
period up to and including the date of such grant (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of securities in issue;
and (i) (where the securities are listed on the Stock Exchange),
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
securities at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such
further grant of options must be approved by shareholders of the
Group.
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31. SHARE OPTIONS (continuea)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023

S S S et
i ZECZE CECmE “E-=E TA=TH
St = ER ER £ ER +t2A TZA tA=tR  fthi#z
-A-B Rk itz ¥4 i Xz =t-B  =t-R HReBR SHEER
i aRE tREns BhE  BRE  BRE  BRE o) A 18 {1
Adjusted
exercise
price
Exercisable  per share
Adjusted price per after
upon the Options Options Options Options share before  the rights
Heldat  completion granted  exercised cancelled lapsed Held at Heldat rights issue issue on 30
1 January ofthe  Held after during  during the during during 31 December 31 December on 30 October
2023 rightsissue  rights issue the year year the year the year 2023 2024 October 2023 2023
BT BT
HKS HK$
W &5
Employees 8170000 1040280 9210280 - - - (9.210280) - - 8 7
7,000,000 - 7000000 - - - (7,000,000 - - b N/A
B) EZ
Directors
g3 1,500,000 190994 1690994 - - - (1,690994) - - 8 7
Shum Sai Chit
B 250,000 31,832 281832 - - - (281,832) - - 8 7
Kwong Ping Man*
REx 250,000 38 2183 - - - (281832) - - 8 7
Cheung Sound
Poon
10170000 1294938 11,464,938 - - - (11,464938) - 8 7
7,000,000 - 7,000,000 - - - (7000000 - b N/A
17170000 1294938 18464938 - - - (18464938) - -
* RZZZWERAZ+H/\HRE * Retired on 28 June 2024

RZE_=ZF+-_A=Z+—BER=F
THWE+ - A=+—BIEARBHEKIT
FREARE -

No options were outstanding at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2024.
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

As at the date of the annual report, the total number of Shares
of the Company available for issue under the Scheme (including
the above Options outstanding not yet exercised) was 22,871,950
representing approximately 3.86% of the issued share capital of the
Company as of the date thereof. The remaining life of the Scheme
is approximately 4 years and to be expired on 4 December 2027.

The fair value of Options granted during the year ended 31
December 2019 determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
model was approximately HK$13,509,000. The significant inputs
into the model were share price of HK$0.285, at the grant date
and adjusted for the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from 46.729% to 54.568%,
annual risk-free interest rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of
Options of approximately 1.10 to 3.10 years and dividend payout
ratio 1.64. The volatility measured at the standard deviation of
expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of
daily share prices from 31 December 2010 to 25 July 2019.

No Options were granted during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current year and prior period are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 60 of the
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (“Companies Act”) amounted to
HK$Nil (2023: HK$521,318,000). Under the Companies Act, the
Company’s contributed surplus of the Company is also available
for distribution to the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid
or distribution made out of contributed surplus if to do so would
render the Company unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due or the realisable value of its assets would thereby become
less than its liabilities.

The Group’s special reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares in 1993, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor.
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3. MEXKAMELABEZYEE  33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
EFERAT
LA ¥ ERRE TERES @t
Due
to holding Interest Convertible
companies Borrowings Payables bonds Total
ThER THx TR THx THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-mE-F—-A As at 1 January 2024 (3,139) 334,848 3721 347,170 682,600
BERLTE Financing cash flow 3,026 - (3,721) (7,210) (7,905)
&R ET Exchange realignment (2,395) (325) - (2,720)
EtEReEY Other non-cash movement;
TS Interest payable - 9,954 - 9,954
ERFISTH Effective interest expense 19,759 - 28,892 48,651
RHENERES Early redemption of convertible bonds - - (5,326) 3,464

RZE-ME+ZA=1—HH  Netdebt asat 31 December 2024
EHFH 352,212 363,526 734,064

B/ (1)
ERAT
LFR B3 FERFIE ERES &zt
Due from/
(to) holding Convertible
companies Borrowings  Interest Payables bonds Total
ThEL TAL THEL TAL TETL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZB-=F-F-H As at 1 January 2023 2871 320,104 8474 320,048 651,497
BERETE Financing cash flow (6010) (901) (8474) - (15,385)
& 5 55 Exchange realignment - (2,463) 487 - (1.776)
EthReEe: Other non-cash movement;
RIS Interest payable - - 3034 - 3034
ERAMExH Effective interest expense - 18,108 - 2122 45,230
WZEZ=F+ZA=1—HH  Netdebt as at 31 December 2023
EHIE (3.139) 334,848 3721 347,170 682,600
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3. EEHER 34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
REENXEEEEEAEMANBERD Details of the Group’s borrowings, which are secured by certain
B RMIEEI4 - 15/%25 assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15 and 25

35. &I 35. COMMITMENTS
REBRBERARITB NI ERASE - The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the

reporting period:

—E_NEF —E-=4F
2024 2023
FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

BRI4ERIERME : W2 - W=  Contracted, but not provided for: Property,
B plant and equipment 18,872
36. EXBHEALIRS 36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@) BRAELZUBHHREAMESTFL (a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
XS REAN XEBBT financial statements, the Group had the following material
NERBEEATRZS transactions with related parties during the year:

BZE BHE
—E-ImF —_T_=F
T-A=+-H |pEaal=
LHFE EFE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2024 2023

TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000

RMPEERAREINCEEE Management fee paid to an intermediate
holding company 2,950

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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36. EXBAEALRF (&) 36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) AEBEZEEEABRH: (b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

—BMF —E-=F

2024 2023

FEx FHBT

HK$’000 HK$'000

E=(fsE9) Directors (Note 9) 1,308
EMEFrZERAS Other key management personnel:

FeREMEHESER Salaries and other short term
employee benefits 1,318
2,626

R-E-_WNE+-_A=+—8"
ENEEERAR ZHEBELN A
8677000/9%7E(_7_ F
5,822,000/ JT) ° #Z 3K 1B & E IR
o B NIRER(EE (HE26) °

RZEZNFE+=ZA=+—H"
M7 A B B # 2 i A @Ming Xin
Developments lelted§§TT Y A] 2
(& % # /354,554,000 7T (K1 &
28) °

ﬂm¢&mm:;:—¢ﬂﬁ—
BRIZENAE ((ZR2%]) T
= EMm%yﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁ@
NAIRHEENFERABR AR
(KRR EEE2ENBEAR) &
RITRI S ERDE - UNERERK
BHEETILRABLIRHAER
ARI(MIUELB] - LB E
Bl B R AR (KR AR
) B ZE2EWE AR B
RITREBEERHERLRABR
ﬁm%ﬁﬁAE%mmeWi
MEFHNERET Bt ILE
iIElxe$’ATﬁAtm%Eﬁ'J 14AE
BETNvBEEAL REREEE
&$ AR EMAMANET 2 &
X5 WAEBS EHRANFEULAE
BRZHEF - RERTERBILE
RHERTE - A ARFREAE
FARMARETHEBERZBER
NERELRBILIREIERTE -
QBB IR % & RO e b
HRsms BHBREEZA
EHBEENERTIA RS-

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due to an immediate
holding company was approximately HK$8,677,000 (2023:
HK$5,822,000). The amount is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand (note 26).

As at 31 December 2024, the convertible bonds issued to
the immediate holding company of the Company, Ming Xin
Developments Limited, was approximately HK$354,554,000
(note 28).

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company published

1 August 2021 (the “Announcement”), Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd. and Xinjiang Tengxiang
Magnesium Products Company Limited, the indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered into guarantee
agreements with a bank to guarantee the payment obligations
of Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company Limited
(“Shandong Hongri”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
controlling shareholder of the Company), in respect of the
loans amounting to RMB124.96 million advanced by that bank
to Shandong Hongri under the loan agreements. Shandong
Hongri is accordingly a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the guarantees
constituted connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules and were subject to the reporting,
announcement requirements and independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However, the Company had not complied with the reporting,
announcement requirements and independent shareholders’
approval requirement in respect of the Guarantees at the
relevant time. The Company has taken various remedial
measures to enhance its internal control and prevent
recurrence of such non-compliance as disclosed in the
Announcement.
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36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company published
on 16 August 2023, the Company has entered into the loan
agreements with Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
for a term of 1 year from 16 August 2023 to 15 August 2024,
pursuant to which the Company has agreed to provide a
loan of less than HK$10,000,000 to Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited, bearing an interest rates of 5% per annum.
The loan has been repaid during the year ended 31 December
2024.

As Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited is an
intermediate holding company of the Company, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company. Pursuant
to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transaction
contemplated under the loan agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company. As one or more of
the relevant applicable ratios (as defined under Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules) in respect of the loan are less than 25%,
and the loan principal under the Loan Agreement exceeds
HK$3,000,000 but is less than HK$10,000,000, pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Loan Agreement and
the transaction contemplated thereunder are subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements, but are exempt
from the circular (including independent financial advice) and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due from Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited is HK$Nil (2023:
HK$8,961,000).
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36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(g) Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”):

- Save as disclosed in the item (a), (c), (d) and (f) above,
the Directors consider that the other related party
transactions disclosed in the Note 36 do not fall under
the definition of “connected transaction” in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transactions under
“management fee paid to an intermediate holding
company” set forth in item (a) above are fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement, circular and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.73
and Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transaction under
“amount due to Ming Xin Developments Limited” set
forth in item (c) was conducted on normal commercial
terms or better, and not secured by the assets of the
Group, and thus are fully exempt from the reporting,
announcement, circular and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Rule 14A.73 and Rule 14A.90 of the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that the other
related party transactions disclosed in the Note 36 and elsewhere
in these financial statements do not fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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37. REAE S Z2EMI A 37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
ZHemITARRERRZEREE The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
Ol instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

—E-_NME+=-A=+—H
31 December 2024

8§
RN -

Financial

assets at

Financial assets amortised cost
THET

HK$’000

JEWE 5 R R EKREE Trade receivables and bills receivable

Wake RAMERRIBZ2BEE Financial assets included in deposits and other
receivables

RekReEMEIER Cash and cash equivalents

A& Z

SRBE

Financial

liabilities at

Financial liabilities amortised cost
THET

HK$’'000

EIE SRR Trade payables 19,418
VAHEMEMNREBEREAEA 2SR/ AR Financial liabilities included in other payables and

accruals 31,911
EEN Borrowings 352,212
FEREEER AR ZHIA Amount due to an immediate holding company 8,677

aEnESs Convertible bonds 363,526

775,744

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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37. RERE S ZzEMITE (&)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

—E - =F+=ZR=+—H
31 December 2023

g X
AT EZ
SREE
Financial
assets at
TELEE Financial assets amortised cost
T T
HK$’000
EWE 5 RR R ERERE Trade receivables and bills receivable 3,205
Wake RAMERRIBLZ2BEE Financial assets included in deposits and other
receivables 3,093
BeMReEEIAR Cash and cash equivalents 39,954
FEU A ETERR R 7l 2 5RIR Amount due from an intermediate holding
company 8,961
55,213
R 5
ARG EZ
EHBE
Financial
liabilities at
SRIBE Financial liabilities amortised cost
T T
HK$'000
B SR Trade payables 15,472
AEEMEMNZKBEREAEBHE 2E/MARE  Financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals 25,752
B Borrowings 334,848
EREEERAB K Amount due to an immediate holding company 5,822
ARG S Convertible bonds 347,170
729,064
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38.

39.
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of the Group's
financial assets and liabilities, the balance were approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly comprise trade
and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due
from an intermediate holding company, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, other payables and accruals, borrowings, and
amount due to an immediate holding company and convertible
bonds.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For
transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of
the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms
without the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

FEERK &) Credit risk (continued)
AEBENAFEERRS RFTHEE The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
LA $E R - following categories:
WEBE EFT AR st & B Z BR K Hitb & @& E
Internal credit Other financial
rating Description Trade receivables assets
e R 5% F 77 0 E K E R B A HEBREEESE - 1218 A 78 58
8 B R IR RELEERE EEBR
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL- 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
BEREAE EBALEEINRRAENR  BBREER HEBEEEE - 1218 A 78 58
2UBE RELEERE EEBRE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL- not credit- 12m ECL
but usually settle in full impaired
75t BREBERNFERKEIKEIINAEER - B 2HEBEERE - 2HEHAEEEE-
FTHAUNREERREE 7T AREEFEERE RELEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-not
in credit risk since initial recognition not credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or externally
g BBRETEECELREERE 2HEHEEEE - 2HBEHEEEE -
EEAEEERE EEAEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL- credit-
credit-impaired credit-impaired impaired
3 BEBBTREBABAREVRMAS WiHE B WIHBBE
] Wy 1o TR TR ) M R S
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off  Amount is written off

debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic prospect
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39. IBEREEEERBEE (Z)  39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

TRAXAEEAETHEHAEESE The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
FENeREENEERNEERR financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

MBEE RBEE 2EAZEH

M R AR HHEEER FHAE
External credit  Internal credit 12-month or

Notes  rating ratings lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
It S} 2 i Sl
2024 2023
THER THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000

RBHERATENESRHERE
Financial assets at amortised cost
JEWE 5 8R 5 20 e 2HEHEESE
-AEEEERE 1,660
Trade receivables 20 Low risk lifetime ECL-
not credit-impaired 1,660
EREE rPHEREEHE
-ABEEEERE -
Watch list lifetime ECL-
not credit-impaired N
2] rPHEREEHA
-AEEEERE -
Doubtful lifetime ECL-
not credit-impaired -
BR rHEBEERA
-BREGEERE 138,966 144,027
Loss Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired 138,966 144,027
Be RAMEKHE 21 ERE NEAESEEER 3,642 3,186
Deposits and other receivables 21 Low risk 12m ECL 3,642 3,186
RITEA 2 A3EAa3 TEH REARHEERR 24,716 39,954
Bank balances 22 A3 to Aa3 N/A 12m ECL 24,716 39,954

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances or
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on these items on a
collective basis, grouped by aging status and past due status.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies
internal credit rating for its customers in relation to its operation.
The following table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed on a collective
basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with credit-
impaired with gross carrying amounts of HK$138,966,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$144,027,000) were assessed individually

AEEETR Internal credit rating
1K R Low risk

ERRE Watch list

R Doubtful

“ECNE —Eo=fF
2024 2023

THEREX EUREIRR
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
THET FHT

HK$'000 HK$'000

0.5% 0.7% 1,660
TEAN/A TER N/A -

REHA N/A TEE N/A -

1,660

BEIBRXTIREEEE S KRN A
HEEMANEORERENIERE
L EET AIRBANHBZRAL
SO E SRR IEERN TIAFE

 E-FE-WMF+-_A=1+—HILF

F AEBEREERTHERERE

TA/WTEE’J’TE%&%@@8OOU/%7E(—

T = = F - BE R [E13,00008 ) o #

@7,%“ BEATEBEEEFERED

B AT R E B 51,705,000 T (=&
__¢ © S f5 813,935,000 7T ) ©

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on probability of
default and loss given default over the expected life of the trade
receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue costs or effort.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided
reversal of allowance HK$8,000 (2023: reversal of allowance for
HK$13,000) impairment loss recognised for trade receivables based
on collective assessment. Reversal of allowance of HK$1,705,000
(2023: reversal of allowance of HK$3,935,000) were made on
debtors with significant balance and credit- impaired debtors.

BRI R EERER AR
2024 AFHRE 163




B %5 3 2= Bt & (48D
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_Z-_W&+=-H=1+—HIF% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

39. IBEREEEERBEE (Z)  39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

TRINREIZECT EZERNEWRE The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
SEREHREHEEEENED has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified
approach:

ZHES ZHES
FEEE FEEE
(KRR (BHHA
ZERE) ZEHE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
THER TER TET
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
R-_BE-=F—H—H At 1 January 2023 153,358 153,383
ERARESERD Reversal of impairment losses
recognised (3,935) (3,948)
ERET Exchange difference (5,396) (5,397)
R-ZBZ=%+-A=+-H At 31 December 2023 and
R=2-mE-A-A 1 January 2024 144,027 144,038
ERARESEER Reversal of impairment losses
recognised (1,7085) (1,713)
A% Exchange difference (3,356) (3,357)
RZZB-_MFE+-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 138,966 138,968
e REMERIENRNIEER For the purpose of internal credit risk management of deposits
REBME  AEEEHBEBAERK and other receivables, the Group uses past due informations to
FEEERBRERE BUIZHERIANK assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
BELF - recognition.
REH B @
Not past due Past due Total
TEx TER TER
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
—E-@mE 2024
Be R AR IR Deposits and other receivables
—E-=F 2023
e REMEKHE Deposits and other receivables 3,186 - 3,186
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9. iIBEMREEEERBE (#Z)  39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

REeRAMERFENS  BRE For deposits and other receivables, the management makes
BRBETEEETRLENXTHZE R periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of deposits
H b JE U 30 TR A AT U B 1 1T 4 HR and other receivables based on industry credit rating and default
BYHEH EEBERAE  ZENENE rate. The management believes that there are no significant
ERBAVISBRUREEREE LA - increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
mASBEZI2EAFEHREEBEIRE and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

AR -

TREARDHIZ S R E M ERKIERE The following table show the movement of ECL that has been
ROTBEHREEBENES - recognised for deposits and other receivables.

2HEH 2HHEH

FEEE FEFE

1218 B (KA (BEEHR
RHGEEEE FERE) FEHE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired)
TER TER TER THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-=Z%—-f—H At 1 January 2023
Eﬁ@ DREBERD Reversal of impairment losses
recognised
EHERE Exchange difference

RZE-=ZF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2023

—TZNE—-A-R and 1 January 2024
EEEEWEWEEETE@@ Reversal of impairment losses
recognised
EHER Exchange difference

RZE-ME+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2024

REERHE EEERER AR
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continuea)

For bank balances, the credit risk is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate borrowings (see Note 25 for details).

As management considers the Group’s exposure to the above fair
value interest rate risk is not significant, no interest rate swaps or
other hedging activities are undertaken by management during the
year.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank deposits
and variable-rate bank borrowings. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates
on bank balances and borrowings.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on variable-rate borrowings as at 31 December
2024 had been 10 basis points (0.1% per annum) (2023: 10 basis
points) higher/lower than the actual effective interest rate, the
Group’s post-tax loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$42,000 (2023: post tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$36,000).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to bank balances carried at prevailing market rate. However, such
exposure is minimal to the Group as the bank balances are all
short-term in nature.

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity

of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and
banking facilities. The Group’s bank borrowings would mature in
less than one year as at 31 December 2024 based on the carrying
value of borrowings reflected in the financial statements.

The following tables described the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments. Specifically, borrowing
with repayment on demand clause and amounts being demanded
by the creditors for immediate repayment are included in the
earliest time band.
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39. IBEBREEEERKE (Z)  39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

REBES R &) Liquidity risk (continued)

“EB-mET=A=t-H
31 December 2024

MEFY RERDS AERHAS
ERF= PR-F BB—-F hEAHE REE
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year Over 1 year cash flows amount
TER TER TER THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERE SRR Trade payables 19,418 19,418 19,418
S| BEAEMFIBERE Financial liabilities included in
HERAzERBRE other payables and accruals 31,911 - 31,911 31,911
AR Borrowings . 118,462 298,401 416,863 352,212
JERf—ZME 2B Amount due to a shareholder 8,677 - 8,677 8,677
AEBES Convertible bonds y 30,807 411,583 442,390 363,526
209,275 709,984 919,259 775,744
—E-=%+-F=+—-H
31 December 2023
INHEFg RERR RUFARE
EIRA = PR—F HiR—F mEBE BHE
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year QOver 1 year cash flows amount
FTHT TET TET TAET
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERE SRR Trade payables - 15,472 - 15,472 15,472
P AE M EMFERIE Financial liabilities included in
STERzemAR other payables and accruals - 25,752 - 25,752 25,752
T Borrowings 731 114,949 298,401 413,350 334,848
JERf—ZMRE ZZE  Amount due to a shareholder - 5,822 - 5,822 5,822
BEESe Convertible bonds 8.47 29,504 428,886 458,390 347,170
191,499 727,287 918,786 729,064
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39. IBEKREEEERKE (Z)  39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

5 L B

ERAERBREDEBRS BER
BEZZURWBRRININET .G
B - U2 B AT E RHIME R o
AEBEMYERINERS BER
BEAIIINEENHEK AEE B
DEREINERK YEFZHEE
HEANERR

EXREH

AEEERER TBAENRE
AEBEREQE WRBRELA
ARELR - AR E T RIRE R EE -

AEBEREEARER  THELHE
Rz B8 B ERRIEEL A -
FRESNFAEEEARER AL E
HEMPREREEAKETHERG -
REBEE-ZZT-_NF+A=+—HK
TE - CZHF+ A=+ —HIEFE -
EBERNEEZ BRI EES -

AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposures to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in the functional currencies of the
respective subsidiaries. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
significant foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders
or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
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40. 21X 7] 2z B 3R 2R

170

ARBRBERRZHBRRKER

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

R Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
—Eo=F
F=H=1r—F
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
FET FBT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET
MEBARZEE Investments in subsidiaries 216,704 886,257
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
JE U FfT B 1 B 3B Amounts due from subsidiaries 203,356 214,375
P IR A B 2 5RIB Amount due from an intermediate holding
company - 8,961
Be RIRTTHES Cash and bank balances 101 209
BB E B Total current assets 203,457 223,545
REAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
Hib e RIE R ETE R Other payables and accruals 790 1,323
BN EEERAR KA Amount due to an immediate holding company 8,677 5,822
nBBERSE Total current liabilities 9,467 7,145
REEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 193,990 216,400
EEAERABDERE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 410,694 1,102,657
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE_F_NMF+-A=1—HBLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024  ~—~
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40. KRR 2 BERRRK (&) 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

—BoOF ZT-=F
==k d:l - — =1+ —H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023

THERT THET
HK$’000 HK$'000

By k=R NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
&% Borrowings 243,379 223,620
AERES Convertible bonds 363,526 347,170
ERERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 3,637 4,623
ERDABELE Total non-current liabilities 610,542 575,413
(BEEE)/EESE Net (liabilities)/assets (199,848) 527 244
R EQUITY
BEBITRA Issued capital 5,926 5,926
& (M) Reserves (note) (205,774) 521318
BAEM ERER Capital deficiency/total equity (199,848) 527,244
PHHRER_ZE_AF=A=-1+\H The financial statement was approved and authorised for issue
KEFEEHREBETED X HT by the board of directors on 28 March 2025 and was signed on its
BEEREKEE behalf by
Tt E L St Hy 4% 2z +
Mr. Shum Sai Chit Ms. Chi Sile
EZE BF
Director Director
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= N .
40. XD T 2 MR R K (& 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continuea)
B £ - Note:
ARBZHEREDT - A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
EARS
1 105 B Bk BABH EAEERGE BEfE BRERE R ER o)
Share Capital Convertible Share
premium Contributed redemption bond equity option  Accumulated
account surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TET TET TET TET TET TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-Z-=F%—HA—H As at 1 January 2023 1,591,606 677,123 419 35,651 30,646 (1,666,192) 669,253
FEFERZEXHER Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - - (160,645) (160,645)
BRME R Share option lapsed - - - - (30,646) 30,646 -
BITHRBRRG Issue of rights shares 12,710 - - - - - 12,710

RZZZ=FF+ZA=F—HK Asat 31 December 2023 and
—Z-pmE-A—H 1 January 2024 1,604,316 677,123 419 35,651 - (1,796,191) 521,318

FEBERZEYLAE Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year - (727,092) (727,092)
RATER A EHRESR Early redemption on convertible

bonds (1,244) 1,244 -
RMZTZME+=A=+—8 Asat31 December 2024 1,604,316 34,407 (2,522,039) (205,774)
KATZHARGBERE-ANL=E The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the
KATZRG FTRFET s EEE fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
MW E B ATRN 2 AxEiR the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
BATHEERMHMBTT AN T R shares in 1993, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares
CEBEZSRM - BE—NAN\—FF2 issued in exchange therefor. Under the Bermuda Companies Act
ERATE —BATAEETERT 1981, a company may make distributions to its members out of the
D ARSBERNZEREREESY contributed surplus in certain circumstances.
DK °
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41. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Company Limited
(“Baishan Tianan”), a PRC subsidiary of the Group, received
a court summons from a PRC bank on 2 June 2021, as
disclosed in our 2022 annual report. This summons was
regarding a breach of loan terms and conditions by Baishan
Tianan, with the bank demanding repayment of approximately
64 million yuan in principal that had not been settled, along
with interest and other related costs. As of 16 March 2022,
the Baishan Intermediate People’s Court of Jilin Province
issued an execution ruling, approving the bank’s application
to freeze certain assets owned by Baishan Tianan. However,
on December 22 of the same year, the court lifted the freezing
on the mining rights of Baishan Tianan. Subsequently,
Baishan Tianan was notified by the Baishan Court through an
execution ruling on 5 February 2024, that its pledged assets
would be auctioned from 10 March to 11 March 2024, with a
starting price of approximately RMB133 million. The auction
proceeds were expected to be used primarily to settle
Baishan Tianan’s debt obligations. The first auction, however,
was unsuccessful. On 3 May 2024, the Group received a
notification from the Baishan Court that the Baishan Tianan
Assets would be subject to a realisation auction. This auction
was scheduled to take place between 2 May 2024 and 21 July
2024, with a starting bid of approximately RMB106 million. As
of the date of this report, the auction has failed without any
bids.

Currently, the debt restructuring process for Baishan Tianan
is still ongoing, but it has become increasingly difficult due
to a shortage of liquid funds and the impact of litigation
enforcement, which also hinders the regular operations of
the company. The Group is actively communicating with
creditors, hoping to resolve the lawsuits through settlements
to provide the related enterprises with the necessary time
and space for restructuring. If a new agreement cannot
be reached with the creditors, they may resume legal
proceedings to enforce the court’s judgment. The Group
will disclose relevant information in a timely manner based
on the progress of Baishan Tianan’s debt restructuring, to
keep shareholders and investors informed of any significant
developments related to the restructuring or litigation.
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L. EFEFAREAEE 2 41. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
MIN E X - EERREEWER Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that up to report
B -SEEXEEFAGERAEEHE date there were no significant litigations would have material
X% EBERMBRAEEERDTH adverse impact on the business, operation and financial position of
& the Group.

42, RETEFEEMBHREK 42. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBREN_ZT_-_AHAFE=A The consolidated financial statements were approved and
“tN\HEBESEESH ERFETE - authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.
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MBHE
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A EWFAK K EZVBRR 2EP— This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

,f/'\ °

E 4 RESULTS
BZE BE 8Z HZE B2
—E_EE —E-_—& —E-_C-& —BECZ=E —E_E
+ZB=t—-H +t=ZA=+-H +=ZA=+-H +ZA=+-0 hp=¥:Ehgsl:
EEE EEE TEE TEE LEE
For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TET THER THER TR THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B (i)
Note (i)
A Revenue 744,836 416,060 383,899 263,491 242,700
BATEN,/(B#])  Profit/(loss) before tax (68,648) (326,725) 5,632 (425,911) (409,209)
FriEH Income tax (5,363) (5,158) (4,228) 2311 790
RELHF,/(EE)  Profit/(loss) for the year (74,011) (331,883) 1,404 (423,600) (408,419)
AT AL Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
w2/ (B8 -
ADBIRIEZEBA  Equity holders of the Company (74,011) (331,883) 1,404 (423,600) (408,419)
RELHF,/(EE)  Profit/(loss) for the year (74,011) (331,883 ) 1,404 (423,600 )
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B BBE (&)
FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

EEHAEE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
R-ZE-EF RIB--§ RIT--F RIZ-=F pstdmll ¢
+t=ZA=t—-8 +=ZA=t-A +=ZA=t-A +ZA=1t-H E¥:Ehds
As at As at As at As at As El
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TAT THER TR TR THET
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEE ()
Note (i)
BEES Total assets 2,556,832 2360619 1873174 1,442,531 1,025,167
BEAE Total liabilities (1,104,910) (1,171,677) (777,222) (829,570) (869,677)
1,451,922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961 155,490
ADEIREZEBA  Equity attributable to equity
& 1l P 1 holders of the Company 1,451,922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961 155,490
1,451,922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961 155,490
B 5E Note:
0} XEREEREBEZUEET HRERFEETR 0} The comparative figures of the results and asset and liabilities have been prepared
BIEFFRMER - based on the previous annual report published in the corresponding years.
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